
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet
20 April 2016

Time 5.00 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Executive

Venue Committee Room 3 - Civic Centre, St Peter's Square, Wolverhampton WV1 1SH

Membership
Chair Cllr Roger Lawrence (Lab)
Vice-chair Cllr Peter Bilson (Lab)

Labour

Cllr Claire Darke
Cllr Steve Evans
Cllr Val Gibson
Cllr Andrew Johnson
Cllr Elias Mattu
Cllr John Reynolds
Cllr Sandra Samuels
Cllr Paul Sweet

Quorum for this meeting is five Councillors.

Information for the Public
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the democratic support team:

Contact Dereck Francis
Tel/Email Tel: 01902 555835 or dereck.francis@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Address Democratic Support, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square,

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from:

Website https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk
Email democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Tel 01902 555043

Please take note of the protocol for filming, recording, and use of social media in meetings, copies of 
which are displayed in the meeting room.

Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public.

https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda
Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title

MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS

1 Apologies for absence 

2 Declaration of interests 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting (23 March 2016) (Pages 3 - 10)
[For approval]

4 Matters arising 
[To consider any matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting]

DECISION ITEMS (AMBER - DELEGATED TO THE CABINET)

5 Care Leavers Charter (Pages 11 - 16)
[To sign up to the charter] 

6 Scrutiny review of child sexual exploitation (Pages 17 - 66)
[To consider the recommendations of the scrutiny review group and the Cabinet’s 
response thereto]
[NOTE: The Chair of the scrutiny review group has been invited]

7 Transportation capital programme, 2016/17 and future years (Pages 67 - 84)
[To approve a programme of capital funded schemes to develop and maintain the 
transportation network for the financial years 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19, 
subject to available resources and annual review]



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Meeting of the Cabinet
Minutes - 23 March 2016

Attendance

Members of the Cabinet

Cllr Roger Lawrence (Chair)
Cllr Peter Bilson (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Claire Darke
Cllr Steve Evans
Cllr Val Gibson
Cllr Andrew Johnson
Cllr John Reynolds
Cllr Paul Sweet

Employees
Dereck Francis Democratic Support Officer
Keith Ireland Managing Director
Tim Johnson Strategic Director - Place
Julien Kramer Director of Education
Linda Sanders Strategic Director - People
Mark Taylor Director of Finance

Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title
1 Apologies for absence

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Cllrs Elias Mattu and Sandra 
Samuels.

2 Declaration of interests
No declarations of interests were made.

3 Minutes of the previous meeting (24 February 2016)
Resolved:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 24 February 2016 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair.

4 Matters arising
There were no matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting.

Page 3

Agenda Item No: 3



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5 Staying Put - providing  support to young people formerly in care
Cllr Val Gibson presented a revised ‘Staying Put’ policy to support young people in 
care and their carers when the young person is residing at university during term 
time.  The revised policy allows the young person in care the opportunity to pursue 
education, training and employment, without the disruption of having to move to 
independence during a critical period of their life.  The revised policy also aligned the 
payments made to staying put carers to recently implemented fees and allowances 
paid to foster carers. 

Resolved:
1. That the revised policy to support young people in Staying Put arrangements 

when they are at university be approved.  

2. That the Staying Put fees be aligned to the fees and allowances paid to foster 
carers.

6 Outcome of consultation on future of Recovery House (an in-house service for 
people suffering with mental ill health)
Cllr Andrew Johnson presented the report on the outcomes of the consultation on a 
revised service model for Recovery House, an in-house serviced for people suffering 
with mental health.  On behalf of Cllr Elias Mattu who was unable to attend the 
meeting, Cllr Johnson thanked service users, stakeholders and employees who 
participated in the consultation process. 

Resolved:
1. That the revised service model for the mental health recovery service which 

had been developed following a period of consultation be approved to include:

 the development of an assertive outreach service that will work in an 
integrated way with clinical mental health services

 a two bed flat for use in emergencies for an initial two year period
 Development of the existing building into a supported living service for 

people with complex mental health needs.

2. That the feedback from the consultation contained in the consultation report 
be noted.

7 Better Care Fund Section 75 Agreement (Pooled Budget) 2016/17
Cllr Andrew Johnson presented a report on proposals to continue the Section 75 
pooled fund agreement between the City Council and Wolverhampton Clinical 
Commissioning Group.

Resolved:
1. That it be agreed to continue the Section 75 Agreement (Pooled Fund) with 

NHS Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group (“WCCG”) for 2016/17, 
on the terms and conditions outlined in this report along with any other 
ancillary legal agreements necessary for the joint administration of the Better 
Care Fund, including setting up a pooled fund to be managed by the Council. 

2. That authority be delegated to approve the final terms of the proposed section 
75 agreement to Cabinet Members for Adults, Public Health and Well Being 
and Resources, (Cllrs Elias Mattu, Sandra Samuels, and Andrew Johnson) in 
consultation with the Strategic Director for People and Director of Finance.

Page 4



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

8 Increasing the availability of council flats to young people and families
Cllr Peter Bilson presented the report on the proposal to remove the age 
designations from a number of Council flats to improve accessibility to housing for 
those in housing need.

Resolved:
1. That the proposal to remove age designations across all flats in the City be 

approved.

2. That the proposal to apply an age designation of 50 years plus to former 
sheltered flats be approved.

3. That the proposal for a small number of former sheltered properties to have 
the age designation permanently removed with additional priority given to 
tenants within the Council’s housing Allocation Policy should they wish to 
move to an age designated property be approved.

4. That the allocation of additional properties (studio flats or one bedroom flats) 
to the People Directorate for use by the Looked after Children Transitions 
Housing Support Service be approved.

9 Waste and recycling strategy
Cllr Steve Evans presented the report on a provisional work programme for the 
production of the waste management strategy for the city and sought approval on the 
proposed timetable and governance arrangements leading to the approval of the 
final document.

Resolved:
1. That the timetable for development of the waste strategy and strategic 

environmental assessment be approved.

2. That the governance arrangements for the draft strategy including consultation 
be approved.

3. That a further report in October 2016 be submitted to approve the waste 
strategy and associated strategic environmental assessment.

10 Consultation on modifications to the Wolverhampton City Centre Area Action 
Plan
Cllr Peter Bilson presented the report which summarised modifications to the 
Wolverhampton City Centre Area Action Plan (AAP) which are required following 
independent examination for consideration and approval for six weeks public 
consultation during April/May 2016.  

Resolved:
1. That the modifications to the Wolverhampton City Centre Area Action Plan 

(AAP) be approved for public consultation;

2. That a further report be submitted to Cabinet in autumn 2016 on the AAP prior 
to adoption by Full Council.

Page 5



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

11 City of Wolverhampton Procurement Charter
Cllr John Reynolds presented the report which advised of progress to embed cross-
partnership commissioning and procurement as set out in the City of Wolverhampton 
Charter.  Approval was requested for the processes to now be put in place for 
embedding the Charter within the Council’s own commissioning and procurement 
processes.

Resolved:
1. That the progress with embedding the City of Wolverhampton Charter within 

the City of Wolverhampton Council and within the work of wider partners be 
received.

2. That the process for embedding the charter within the procurement and 
commissioning processes of the City Council be approved.

3. That the leadership role taken by the City Council in embedding the Charter in 
the City be noted.

12 Scrutiny review of the City of Wolverhampton volunteering offer
The Cabinet received a report on the findings and recommendations of the scrutiny 
review of City of Wolverhampton volunteering offer and the executive response to the 
report.

Cllr Ian Claymore, Chair of the scrutiny review group was in attendance for this item.  
He briefly highlighted some of the areas that the review had focused on and some of 
its recommendations.  He thanked colleagues, witnesses who gave evidence and 
employees who contributed to the review and the production of the final review report 
and in particular Sheila Collette, Head of Economic Inclusion who was the lead 
officer for the review. 

Cllr John Reynolds thanked Cllr Claymore and the review group for their report.  He 
reported that Cabinet supported the recommendations and referred to the detailed 
executive action plan attached to the report. 

Resolved:
1. That the report of the review group and the following recommendations be 

received:

Volunteering policy
1. That the Heads of Service (HoS) Group develop the draft volunteering 

policy and the offer, taking into account  the comments and 
recommendations arising from the review of the City of Wolverhampton 
Volunteering offer.

2. That the HoS group ascertain, through consultation, the current volunteers 
perception of the draft volunteering offer.

3. That definition of volunteering and work experience is included in the 
council volunteering policy and guidelines.

4. That where applicable any person volunteering within the Council will have 
the required DBS checks as specified by the receiving service area.

Page 6



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5. That the HoS group develop a process for volunteers entering the 
workplace and volunteer role descriptions.

6. That ‘Investing in Volunteers’ (IiV) standards be included in the policy 
appendices, and HoS to explore accreditation for the Council.

7. That there is a 12 month review of the final policy.

Skills and pathways
8. That all volunteers are referred to the Volunteer Service at Wolverhampton 

Voluntary Sector Council (WVSC) in the first instance to determine the best 
pathway for the individual.

9. That the volunteer pathway should include the following:
a. A volunteer role description for each service area detailing how the role 

will support existing service delivery.

b. The agreement with a volunteer will detail mandatory and job specific 
training and support for the role.

c. Initiating a DBS check where applicable for all volunteers in Council 
services.

d. Ensuring robust equality monitoring processes are in place identifying 
and following up gaps in current practice and other relevant polices.   In 
exploring this officers have identified and raised the need to review the 
Equality and Diversity Policy Statement with H.R.  

e. All volunteers are registered on the Agresso system and records of 
DBS, training and equality are monitored.

f. All service groups should monitor volunteers to check progress and 
development needs in line with the volunteer offer.

10. That a sensible review period is built into each volunteering role for the 
protection of the service, the benefit of the volunteer and to ensure the role 
has not changed substantially over a set period of time.

11. That volunteers are provided access to the Council Learning Hub to 
develop skills for mandatory and role specific training.

12. That the HoS group and Volunteer Service develop a package of training 
for managers, volunteers and volunteer supervisors to be delivered via the 
Council learning hub.

Additionality 
13. That the volunteer role description should be service specific and include 

the following:
a. The volunteering hours required (determined by the task).

b. The days and duration of the volunteering opportunity (determined by 
the task). Page 7



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

c. The training available – what skills they need, the support role and skill 
development.

d. How the role will support existing service delivery.

e. An agreed and appropriate review period for the protection of the 
service and the volunteer.

f. DBS checks to be arranged if applicable.

g. Volunteering code of conduct.

h. Advertising opportunities to access volunteering with WVSC and 
partner organisations.

14. That specific text should be included in the policy taken from the TUC 
guidance to ensure that volunteering provides additionality to rather than 
replacement of existing staffing resources.

15. That as part of the development of the wider partnership Volunteering 
Strategy, a discussion with the Inclusion Board and Wolverhampton 
Voluntary Sector Council (WVSC) to explore arrangements for DBS checks 
should take place.  Where feasible a process for ensuring that DBS checks 
are in place should be incorporated as part of the contractual arrangements 
for the agency providing volunteering services.

16. That there is a review of the volunteering policy once the Combined 
Authority is functioning to ensure synergy with the wider region.

Resource 
17 a. That an investigation or assessment of the types of costs associated 

with volunteering is undertaken by HoS as part of the policy refinement 
and incorporated within the guidance to service areas.

b. That the HoS group identifies resource implications of training, DBS 
checks and supervising volunteers for each service area.

c. That the HoS group explore and identify funding opportunities with 
funders, partners and businesses, internally and externally.

2. That the executive response to the review recommendations be approved.

3. That the Cabinet response be referred to Scrutiny Board for it to track and 
monitor the implementation of the agreed recommendations.

13 Exclusion of press and public
Resolved:

That in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business as they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information falling 
within the paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Page 8



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

14 Community asset transfer process
Cllr Peter Bilson presented the report on the current approach to managing 
Community Asset Transfer (CAT) applications.  The report set out. how the CAT 
process, following a review, was to be amended to ensure the process supported the 
delivery of sustainable and viable business opportunities that  had a community 
ethos, meets corporate priorities and could be accessed by Voluntary and 
Community Organisations.

Resolved:
1. That the revised Community Asset Transfer process that supports the delivery 

of sustainable and viable business opportunities that have a community ethos, 
meets corporate priorities and can be accessed by Voluntary and Community 
Organisations be endorsed.

2. That the previous two year history and outcomes of Community Asset 
Transfer expressions of interest received from third parties be noted.

3. That it be noted that the Community Asset Transfer Strategy is to be reviewed 
and updated to reflect the Council’s updated Corporate Plan and this would be 
subject to a further report to Cabinet in Summer 2016.

15 Staffing Issues
Cllr Paul Sweet presented reports on staffing issues.

Resolved:
1. That the termination of the employment of the Head of Operational Services 

on the grounds of redundancy and early retirement, as part of an ongoing 
agile review of senior management, on 30 September 2016 or earlier if 
deemed appropriate by the Managing Director be approved.

2. That the deletion of the post Head of Operational Services and the realisation 
of the full year saving of £86,000 per annum be approved.

3. That the termination of the employment of the Head of Commercial Services 
on the grounds of redundancy and early retirement, as part of an ongoing 
agile review of senior management, on 30 September 2016 or earlier if 
deemed appropriate by the Managing Director be approved.

4. That the deletion of the post the Head of Commercial Services and the 
realisation of the full year saving of £86,000 per annum be approved.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet Meeting
20 April 2016

Report title Care Leavers Charter

Decision designation AMBER
Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Val Gibson
Children and Young People

Key decision Yes

In forward plan Yes

Wards affected All

Accountable director Linda Sanders, Strategic Director People

Originating service Looked After Children

Accountable employee(s) Emma Bennett

Alice Vickers
Tel
Email

Service Director, Children and Young 
People
Corporate Parenting Officer
01902 551449/6703
Emma.bennett@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Alice.Vickers@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

People Leadership Team     14 March 2016
Strategic Executive Board    15 March 2016

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Sign up to the Department for Education’s Care Leavers Charter which is a requirement 
of the New Belongings Project Action Plan and will endorse the City Of Wolverhampton 
Council’s commitment to raising the expectations, aspirations and understanding of Care 
Leavers.

2. Support the City of Wolverhampton Council to consider the principles when making key 
decisions effecting Care Leavers.

Page 11

Agenda Item No: 5

mailto:Emma.bennett@wolverhampton.gov.uk
mailto:Alice.Vickers@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Purpose

1.0 That Cabinet considers and approves the City of Wolverhampton Council’s commitment 
to the Department of Education’s (DfE) Care Leavers Charter. This charter sets out 7 
promises and principles to care leavers and endorses the Council’s Corporate Parenting 
responsibilities in raising the expectations, aspirations and understanding of care leavers 
locally. 

1.1 To ensure that the City of Wolverhampton Council is on track with meeting the 
requirements of the New Belongings Project Action Plan.

2.0 Background

2.1 Improving outcomes for care leavers is a key Government and Council priority. The 
Government believe that too many care leavers leave care with poor educational 
attainment and end up long term unemployed. The Care Leavers (England) Regulations 
2010 and the statutory guidance Volume 3: Planning Transition to Adulthood for Care 
Leavers, which came into force in April 2011, strengthened the duties local authorities 
have towards their care leavers. To further endorse the government and local authorities’ 
commitment to Corporate Parenting for Care Leavers the DfE published the Care Leaver 
Charter in 2012, which was written by young people. The charter is a set of principles 
that enshrine the aspirations and needs of young people. 

2.2 In October 2015 the City Council launched its New Belongings Project. The inspiration 
for New Belongings came from a care leavers group who meet regularly with the Minister 
for Children and was the third in a series of initiatives, bringing the principles and 
concepts of Access All Areas and the Charter for Care Leavers down to a local level. The 
aim is to embed these into local services and communities and reduce the sense of long 
term isolation often expressed by care leavers. The Care Leavers Charter forms the 
basis for the project and has been an innovative and ambitious initiative aimed to raise 
expectation and aspiration for care leavers. 

2.3 We expect that the combined efforts of the Council’s commitment to the Care Leavers 
Charter and the New Belongings Project will reduce barriers for care leavers in the 
community, providing them with increased support and engaging the abilities of the 
whole of the Local Authority, its key service partners, and the wider community. Using 
the results from our Care Leavers survey (August 2015) and the Care Leavers Charter, 
an action plan that reflects the priorities of the Local Authority and its care leavers has 
been implemented. This focuses on, for example, increased participation, on-going 
education, training and employment opportunities, housing options, access to health and 
wellbeing services via our local services and partners and raising the profile of care 
leavers. This should promote aspirations and opportunities for our care leavers so that 
they can be encouraged, supported and empowered to achieve better outcomes for their 
future, solidifying the Council’s commitment to the National Care Leavers Charter. 

2.4 The DfE Care Leavers Charter encourages Local Authorities to use the promises and 
principles outlined to inform the decisions they make that affect the young people’s lives. 
These promises and principles are:

Page 12



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

To respect and honour your identity 
• We will support you to discover and to be who you are and honour your unique identity. 

We will help you develop your own personal beliefs and values and accept your culture 
and heritage. We will celebrate your identity as an individual, as a member of identity 
groups and as a valued member of your community. We will value and support important 
relationships, and help you manage changing relationships or come to terms with loss, 
trauma or other significant life events. We will support you to express your identity 
positively to others. 

To believe in you 
• We will value your strengths, gifts and talents and encourage your aspirations. We will 

hold a belief in your potential and a vision for your future even if you have lost sight of 
these yourself. We will help you push aside limiting barriers and encourage and support 
you to pursue your goals in whatever ways we can. We will believe in you, celebrate you 
and affirm you. 

To listen to you 
• We will take time to listen to you, respect, and strive to understand your point of view. We 

will place your needs, thoughts and feelings at the heart of all decisions about you, 
negotiate with you, and show how we have taken these into account. If we don’t agree 
with you we will fully explain why. We will provide easy access to complaint and appeals 
processes and promote and encourage access to independent advocacy whenever you 
need it. 

To inform you 
• We will give you information that you need at every point in your journey, from care to 

adulthood, presented in a way that you want including information on legal entitlements 
and the service you can expect to receive from us at different stages in the journey. We 
will keep information up to date and accurate. We will ensure you know where to get 
current information once you are no longer in regular touch with leaving care services. 
We will make clear to you what information about yourself and your time in care you are 
entitled to see. We will support you to access this when you want it, to manage any 
feelings that you might have about the information, and to put on record any 
disagreement with factual content. 

To support you 
• We will provide any support set out in current Regulations and Guidance and will not 

unreasonably withhold advice when you are no longer legally entitled to this service. As 
well as information, advice, practical and financial help we will provide emotional support. 
We will make sure you do not have to fight for support you are entitled to and we will fight 
for you if other agencies let you down. We will not punish you if you change your mind 
about what you want to do. We will continue to care about you even when we are no 
longer caring for you. We will make it our responsibility to understand your needs. If we 
can’t meet those needs we will try and help you find a service that can. We will help you 
learn from your mistakes; we will not judge you and we will be here for you no matter 
how many times you come back for support. 

Page 13



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

To find you a home 
• We will work alongside you to prepare you for your move into independent living only 

when you are ready. We will help you think about the choices available and to find 
accommodation that is right for you. We will do everything we can to ensure you are 
happy and feel safe when you move to independent living. We recognise that at different 
times you may need to take a step back and start over again. We will do our best to 
support you until you are settled in your independent life; we will not judge you for your 
mistakes or refuse to advise you because you did not listen to us before. We will work 
proactively with other agencies to help you sustain your home. 

To be a lifelong champion 
• We will do our best to help you break down barriers encountered when dealing with other 

agencies. We will work together with the services you need, including housing, benefits, 
colleges and universities, employment providers and health services to help you 
establish yourself as an independent individual. We will treat you with courtesy and 
humanity whatever your age when you return to us for advice or support. We will help 
you to be the driver of your life and not the passenger. We will point you in a positive 
direction and journey alongside you at your pace. We will trust and respect you. We will 
not forget about you. We will remain your supporters in whatever way we can, even when 
our formal relationship with you has ended.

 
3.0 Progress

3.1 The City of Wolverhampton Council has already shown its commitment to Care Leavers 
in approving and endorsing the Corporate Parenting Strategy 2015/2017 and its 
commitment to the New Belongings project launched in October 2015. In order to meet 
the requirements of the New Belongings Project the Charter needs to be officially signed 
up to.

3.2 A care leaver survey has been carried out with Wolverhampton care leavers. The 
analysis of these results showed some common themes on what improvements are 
required and have been the focus of the New Belongings Action Plan. The key themes in 
the action plan are:

 Increase communication and participation with care leavers
 Introduction of the Outcome Star Assessment
 Increase support for care leavers in regards to their independence skills
 Reduce number of care leavers who are not in education, employment or training 

(NEET)
 Increase health and leisure opportunities for care leavers
 Improve partnership with services that support the most vulnerable group of care 

leaver

3.3 A Wolverhampton care leavers’ forum has been established to lead on the project and 
the findings from the survey. The forum will ensure that Wolverhampton’s care leavers 
are consulted on a regular basis regarding the New Belongings project and 
plans/changes for the services and support offered. The forum will be used as a way of 
gathering care leavers’ views on changes and service delivery, with the aim of making 
improvements which will further support young people to reach their potential and 
achieve their aspirations. 

Page 14



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3.4 Quarterly meetings are being held with other Local Authorities within the Black Country 
cluster. These meetings are supported by the National Project Manager and a dedicated 
care leaver who is attached to each Local Authority to offer support and guidance 
throughout the project and an arena to share good practice. 

3.5 A successful meeting was held between Wolverhampton City Council’s Managing 
Director and the national lead for New Belongings, at which we were advised that we are 
making good progress on the project. We are planning to continue with the action plan 
for a further year. Outcomes of the project so far include:
 the publication of an updated webpage for Care Leavers
 the introduction of mandatory training for key staff in supporting Care Leavers’ 

independence
 Additional support to ensure that Care Leavers are in Education Employment and 

Training (EET) – e.g. an EET drop-in session
 Free membership of the Youth Zone for care Leavers
 Improved partnerships with Youth Offending Team, Clinical Commissioning Care 

Group  and other partners to support the vulnerable 

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 There are no financial implications as a result of this report.
[JF/10032016/E]

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 There are no legal implications as a result of this report.
[TS/29032016/L]

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 An initial equality analysis has been undertaken on this report, and following further 
consideration, this report is to address the inequalities that Care Leavers face and 
therefore meets our equalities duty.

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 There are no environmental implications as a result of this report.

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 There are no human resource implications as a result of this report.

9.0 Corporate landlord implications

9.1 There are no corporate landlord implications as a result of this report.

10.0 Schedule of background papers

10.1 New Belongings Report 2016

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Decision designation AMBER
Cabinet member to give 
management response

Councillor Val Gibson
Children and Young People

Key decision Yes
In forward plan Yes

Wards affected All

Review Chair Cllr Jasbir Jaspal (Chair)
Review Members Labour

Cllr Harbans Bagri
Cllr Mary Bateman
Cllr Philip Bateman
Cllr Jasbinder Dehar
Cllr Rupinderjit Kaur
Cllr Peter O'Neill
Cllr Craig Collingswood
Cllr Ian Angus
Cllr John Rowley
Cllr Martin Waite
Cllr Tersaim Singh
Cllr Bhupinder Gakhal
Cllr Welcome Koussoukama
Cllr Rita Potter

Conservative
Cllr Arun Photay
Cllr Andrew Wynne

Lead Scrutiny Review 
Officer

Earl Piggott-Smith
Tel. Office: 01902 551251
E-mail: earl.piggott-smith@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Link Officer Dawn Williams
Head of Service - Safeguarding & Quality , Adults & Children
Tel. Office: 01902 550477
E-mail: dawn.williams@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Strategic Executive Team
People Leadership Team
Cabinet 

16 February 2016
7 March 2016
20 April 2016

Cabinet
20 April 2016

Report title Scrutiny Review of Child Sexual Exploitation

Page 17

Agenda Item No: 6

mailto:E-mail:%20earl.piggott-smith@wolverhampton.gov.uk
mailto:E-mail:%20dawn.williams@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Receive the report of the Scrutiny Review of Child Sexual Exploitation attached at 
Appendix 1 and consider the following recommendations from the review: 

Recommendation 1. The Head of Safeguarding to produce a six monthly newsletter on 
safeguarding matters for all Wolverhampton Councillors.

Recommendation 2. The Head of Safeguarding to ensure that the Wolverhampton 
Safeguarding Children Board Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy is updated to 
incorporate specific reference to the Board’s commitment to the aims and objectives 
detailed in the West Midlands Regional Child Sexual Exploitation Framework (July 2015).

Recommendation 3. The members of the CSE scrutiny review group to reconvene in 
October 2016 to consider progress in implementing recommendations agreed by 
Cabinet. The findings to be added as an appendix to the update report when presented 
to Scrutiny Board on 1.11.16.

Recommendation 4. The Chair of the Councillor Development and IT Advisory Group to 
contact all elected Councillors reminding them of their safeguarding responsibilities and 
the expectation that they will complete mandatory safeguarding courses. 

The level of Councillor non-attendance on e-learning safeguarding courses to be 
monitored by Future People Manager and reported six monthly to Councillor 
Development and IT Advisory Group.  

Recommendation 5. The Future People Manager in liaison with the relevant subject 
matter experts to undertake a review of the effectiveness of mandatory e-learning 
training course for Councillors to ensure that they meet their responsibilities. The findings 
to be presented to the Councillor Development and IT Advisory Group with 
recommendations.

Recommendation 6. Priority Lead – Communicate and Engage (WSCB) to detail 
proposals for further awareness raising in relation to the issue of CSE. The Priority Lead, 
Communicate and Engage, to detail plans for raising awareness of the issue among new 
communities who have moved to Wolverhampton and report findings to WSCB.

Recommendation 7. Wolverhampton representatives of organisations involved in the 
drafting of the West Midlands Metropolitan CSE Regional Framework (July 2015) to 
report annually to their respective boards on progress in embedding agreed processes 
within their policies and practices. Alan Coe to monitor and report progress to a future 
meeting of WSCB.

Recommendation 8. Be Safe – Junior Safeguarding Board to be invited to comment on 
the effectiveness of  policies aimed at  protecting children and young people from the risk 
of CSE  and report their findings to a meeting of WSCB.

Page 18



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Recommendation 9. The Head of Safeguarding to review and update the following 
documents:

 Wolverhampton Response to Independent Inquiry into child sexual exploitation in 
Rotherham and Safeguarding Adults;

 Children and Young People - Guidance notes for Councillors 2015. 

The Head of Safeguarding to send updated documents to all Councillors.

Recommendation 10. The Head of Safeguarding to share a copy of Tackling child sexual 
exploitation – A resource pack for councils with all Councillors at the start of the 
municipal year. The document to be published prominently on City of Wolverhampton 
Council's Learning Hub for Councillors and the Council website.

Recommendation 11. Head of Safeguarding to brief all Councillors in advance of 
Safeguarding Week 2016 events.

Recommendation 12. Lesley Writtle, Director of Operations, Black Country Partnership 
Foundation Trust, to be invited to lead on a review of gaps in counselling support 
services in Wolverhampton aimed at meeting the needs of children and young people 
who have either been sexually exploited or considered to be at risk. The report to 
investigate evidence suggesting under reporting of victims of sexual exploitation from 
black and minority ethnic communities and young boys. The findings to be reported to 
WSCB.

Recommendation 13. Head of Safeguarding, to present annual report to Cabinet and 
other groups, as appropriate, on the impact of the work done during the previous 12 
months to reduce the risk of children and young people becoming victims of CSE and 
also supporting existing victims of CSE and their families.  

Recommendation 14. Director of Education to review school Governor training provision 
to ensure maximum attendance at safeguarding training sessions. The findings to be 
reported to Cabinet Member for Education.  

Recommendation 15. Safeguarding Officer for Education to contact nominated 
Safeguarding Link governors, to discuss ideas that could help improve attendance at 
safeguarding training sessions. Safeguarding Officer for Education to monitor and report 
attendance on governor safeguarding training sessions quarterly to Head Teacher’s 
Safeguarding Committee.

Recommendation 16. People Directorate, Commissioning Leads to present a progress 
report to the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People within 12 months on the 
impact of the changes aimed at strengthening commissioning policies, procedures and 
on-going support to better protect children and young people from the risk of sexual 
abuse or exploitation.

Recommendation 17. Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and Black 
Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust to be invited to review the range of support 
available to the victims of CSE and their families, in particularly in terms of professional 
mental health support services available to both young victims and perpetrators in the 
community. The report to comment on the impact of raised awareness about CSE among

Page 19



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

adults who were previously victims of CSE during their childhood and the support 
services available to meet their needs. A progress report to be presented to the WSCB.

Recommendation 18. Wolverhampton CCG to report of the impact of safeguarding 
training for GP’s and other health professionals to WSCB. The report to include details of 
the number of referrals received from health professionals about safeguarding concerns, 
in particular issues relating to CSE.

Recommendation 19. Priority Lead – Communicate and Engage (WSCB) to report on 
progress in compiling a comprehensive picture of faith groups and unregistered schools 
in Wolverhampton and the extent to which they are meeting their safeguarding 
responsibilities. The findings to be reported at a meeting of the WSCB.

Recommendation 20. Licensing Committee to consider suggestions from the review to 
further support work being done to encourage licensed taxi carriages and private hire 
vehicles operating within Wolverhampton to report safeguarding concerns.

Recommendation 21. WSCB to review progress and challenge as appropriate against 
the 12 Local Standards – See Me, Hear Me Framework. The findings to be published in 
WSCB annual report.

Recommendation 22. WSCB Business Priority Lead; Sexual Exploitation Missing & 
Trafficked (SEMT) Committee, to report to WSCB impact of planned changes and to 
review the extent to which available resources are being used to best effect when 
considering the scale and extent of CSE in Wolverhampton.

Recommendation 23. WSCB Business Priority Lead; Sexual Exploitation Missing & 
Trafficked (SEMT) Committee, to offer WSCB and local Councillors reassurance that any 
changes in the allocation of policing resources will not affect the capacity of the service to 
work individually and collectively to effectively disrupt and prosecute alleged offenders 
and also meet the needs of victims and their families.

Recommendation 24. WSCB Business Priority Lead; Sexual Exploitation Missing & 
Trafficked (SEMT) Committee to collate responses on the use and impact of new civil 
and criminal powers to safeguard children at risk and also children and young people 
considered to be at increased risk of harm across the region to WSCB.

2. Approve the Executive response to the review recommendations set out in Appendix 2 

3. Refer the Cabinet response to Scrutiny Board for them to monitor the implementation of 
the agreed recommendations. 

Page 20



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 Executive Summary

 Alan Coe, Independent Chair Wolverhampton Safeguarding Children Board, has stated 
that Wolverhampton is not a Rochdale or Rotherham and there is no evidence that abuse 
claims in Wolverhampton are either being ignored or not investigated properly.

 WSCB Annual Report 2014/15 shows evidence of good progress by partners in 
protecting children from CSE.

 A range of local and regional initiatives have been implemented in Wolverhampton to 
respond to the findings and recommendations of the Jay Report and other guidance.

 Based on current police intelligence there are 25 identified victims of CSE in 
Wolverhampton. The majority of victims are female, White British and aged 13-17 years 
old. 

 The number of victims of CSE is expected to increase following the operation of the 
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and other activities to raise awareness of the 
issue. The original figures presented during the review were low when compared to our 
local neighbours. However, since the completion of the review it has been reported that 
the number of young people at risk in Wolverhampton increased to 72.

 CSE is a complex issue and the evidence from witnesses and other sources makes clear 
the importance of partners working together to protect vulnerable children and respond 
effectively to new safeguarding threats is supported by robust policies and practices.

 The number of successful prosecutions for offences linked to CSE is small.
 Members of WSCB are open to challenge about their contribution to protecting children.
 Improved working relations between the members of WSCB.
 Concern about the gaps in therapeutic support services to the victims of sexual 

exploitation and their families in Wolverhampton.
 More work needed to ensure key people complete safeguarding training. 

1.0 Purpose

1.1 To bring to the attention of Cabinet the findings of review attached as Appendix 1 and 
recommendations of the scrutiny review of Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE), attached as 
Appendix 2.

2.0 Background

2.1 At the Annual Scrutiny Planning Session on 3 June 2015 Councillors suggested that the 
topic of CSE would benefit from a scrutiny review. The scrutiny review group met on 
seven occasions to gather evidence from key witnesses with knowledge and 
understanding of the issues under investigation.

2.2 The overall aim of the review was to assess the effectiveness and impact of local 
safeguarding policies and practices in protecting children and young people in 
Wolverhampton from the risk of being sexually exploited. 

2.3 The members of the review group wanted reassurance that the City of Wolverhampton 
Council and members of Wolverhampton Safeguarding Children Board (WSCB) were 
meeting their responsibilities to protect vulnerable children from the risk of being sexually 
exploited based on the known scale and extent of CSE in Wolverhampton. 

Page 21



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3.0 Financial implications

3.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. Any costs associated 
with the executive response to the scrutiny review will be met from existing safeguarding 
budgets. 
[GS/11042016/F]

4.0 Legal implications

4.1 There are no legal implications arising from the recommendations in this report.
[TC/10042016/J]

5.0 Equalities implications

5.1 There are no direct equalities implications arising from the findings or recommendations 
in this report. However, the equalities implications of the recommendations will be 
considered throughout the municipal year.

6.0 Environmental implications

6.1 There are no environmental implications arising from the recommendations in this report. 

7.0 Human resources implications

7.1 There are no human resource implications arising from the recommendations in this 
report.

8.0 Corporate landlord implications

8.1 There are no corporate landlord implications arising from the recommendations in this 
report.

9.0 Schedule of background papers

9.1 Background papers for the review group meetings as follows: 

 7 September 2015
 5 October 2015
 19 October 2015
 23 November 2015
 30 November 2015
 10  December 2015
 18 January 2016

Page 22



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Appendix 1: Scrutiny Review of Child Sexual Exploitation

Scrutiny Review of Child Sexual Exploitation

April 2016

Page 23



Forward

The issue of sexual abuse of children is crime with destructive and far reaching 
consequences for victims, their families, and society. The protection of children from 
the risk of sexual exploitation is a key responsibility of the Council and it is important 
therefore for Councillors to challenge the work being done to safeguard children and 
young people in Wolverhampton, as part of their responsibilities. However, it is 
important to accept that we all have a role to play in keeping children safe.

I would firstly like to extend my sincere thanks on behalf of the review group to those 
people that have taken the time to contribute to our evidence base. The members of 
the review group now have a much better knowledge and understanding of the 
issue. I would also like to formally thank all witnesses for their dedication and 
commitment to protecting children and young people in Wolverhampton from the risk 
of child sexual exploitation (CSE).

An investigation into the issue of CSE in Wolverhampton covering all aspects would 
have taken many more months to complete. This would have been unacceptable as 
we wanted to make our contribution to protecting children in as timely a manner as 
possible. However, we have taken care to ensure that we took evidence from across 
the spectrum of key professionals leading on efforts to protect children and young 
people from harm.

The review report findings are therefore intended to give a ‘snapshot’ of current 
progress and challenges facing Wolverhampton. The review report also highlights 
areas where further action is needed to respond to the increase in the number of 
known victims.

The review group have been reassured by witness evidence that the local response 
to the issue is appropriate and that partner agencies are being both challenged and 
supported in their efforts to meet their safeguarding responsibilities. 

The review group acknowledge the excellent work being done to protect children 
from the risk of sexual exploitation and range of initiatives, such as the establishment 
of the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) in January 2016. At present the 
number of young people at risk has fallen to 39 (January to March 2016), which is 
very much welcomed.

The review process has acted as a catalyst for organisations to make changes to  
their policies after presenting their evidence - without waiting for the final report to be 
presented. This is a clear sign of the added value of scrutiny and positive response 
from local agencies to the work of review.

We commend our report and recommendations to Cabinet.

Page 24



Cllr Jasbir Jaspal - Chair Scrutiny Review of Child Sexual Exploitation

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Overview - The Rotherham MBC Story:

 2010 - five men given lengthy jail terms after being found guilty of 
grooming teenage girls for sex in Rotherham.

 2012 - Rotherham MBC Local Safeguarding Board published a serious 
case review into the death of a young woman who had been involved in 
CSE.

 2013 - Home Affairs Select Committee publishes report into the role of key 
agencies involved in Rotherham MBC CSE cases.

 2016 - Six people, including three brothers and their uncle convicted of the 
"systematic" sexual abuse of teenage girls in Rotherham.

1.2 The publication of independent review in 2014 by Professor Alexis Jay - Jay 
Report into child sexual exploitation in Rotherham highlighted a number of 
serious failings by key agencies in meeting their statutory responsibilities to 
protect vulnerable children from being sexually exploited.  A series of similar 
high profile CSE cases around the country have led to increased awareness 
of this still hidden crime and prompted responses from national and local 
decision makers to look critically at what is being done to protect vulnerable 
children.

1.3 The Government published a detailed response to the findings of the Jay 
Report - Tackling Child Sexual Exploitation (March 2015).The document 
makes reference to the overarching responsibilities of local authorities to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children – see Appendix 1 for details of 
published Government documents.

1.4 Local Government Association (LGA) also published guidance to support 
councillors in their safeguarding role. The guide is aimed at all councillors and 
sets out their responsibilities to keep children safe, and support council efforts 
to respond to the challenges of protecting children from CSE. Local 
councillors also have wider responsibility in their community leader role to 
consider if the right safeguarding policies and practices are in place to protect 
children, particularly vulnerable children, considered to be at risk of sexual 
exploitation.

1.5 The document includes a list of key questions that Councillors should ask to 
reassure themselves “that plans are in place to raise awareness of CSE, 
understand what is happening, develop a strategic response, and support 
victims of exploitation and help to facilitate policing and prosecutions” - see 
Appendix 2 for details.

Page 25

http://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/communities-and-local-government-committee/inquiries/parliament-2010/jay-report-rotherham/
http://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/communities-and-local-government-committee/inquiries/parliament-2010/jay-report-rotherham/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-child-sexual-exploitation--2


1.6 It is important to note that safeguarding children is not the responsibility 
of any one person or agency. The Independent Chair (WSCB) commented 
on the wider responsibility for Council employees and the community to report 
safeguarding concerns.

1.7 National press reports and further reviews linked to sexual exploitation of girls 
in Rotherham led to the publication of further national guidance and policy 
documents. The aim being to challenge local authorities and other members 
of children’s safeguarding boards to review the effectiveness and robustness 
of their arrangements in protecting young people, particularly vulnerable 
children, and to work on the assumption that CSE is an issue in their area.

2.0 Overview of CSE

2.1 CSE is considered to be child abuse. A case involving CSE will automatically 
be treated as a child protection case - see Appendix 3 for details of the 
different categories of child sexual exploitation.

2.2 CSE involves exploitative situations, contexts and relationships where young 
people (or a third person):

 receive ‘something’ (e.g. food, drugs, alcohol, cigarettes, affection, 
gifts, money) as a result of performing, and/or others performing on 
them, sexual activities. 

 are often groomed without their knowledge to engage with CSE.

A child is defined as 0-18 years. The age for safeguarding is 11-18 years.

2.3 In all cases, those exploiting the child/young person have power over them by 
virtue of their age, gender, intellect, physical strength and/or economic or 
other resources. The use of violence, coercion and intimidation are common 
feature of CSE cases - see Appendix 4 for a list of indicators that may 
suggest a young person may be at risk of becoming a victim of sexual 
exploitation.

2.4 It is important to note that some children or young people do not recognise the 
coercive nature of abusive relationships and as a result do not see 
themselves as being victims of exploitation. The reality is their behaviour is 
not voluntary or consenting. A child cannot consent to his or her own 
abuse.

2.5 There is an enhanced rape offence if a CSE case involves a child under 13 
years old. 

2.6 Wolverhampton has a child sexual exploitation (CSE) strategy. A specialist 
CSE tool is used by social workers as part of the assessment process to 
check that referrals received are appropriately allocated. To check quality of 
the process cases are audited using a dip sampling exercise.

Page 26



2.7 There is no specific criminal offence of CSE. There is instead comprehensive 
existing legislation for rape, sexual activity with a child under 16, sexual 
offences involving the internet, grooming, trafficking for the purposes of sexual 
exploitation, prostitution, pornography, distribution of indecent images and 
others which can be considered in CSE investigations by the Police.

2.8 According to the Child Exploitation and Online Protection Centre (CEOP) 
most child sexual exploitation offences take place online. The findings from 
CEOP research reveal that 13 and 14 year olds represent the largest single 
victim group. This is also reflected in the findings for Wolverhampton.

2.9 In evidence it was reported that it was estimated that in the region of 250,000 
reports of missing persons are made to police forces throughout the United 
Kingdom each year and 140,000 of these are children. There is a link 
between CSE and children and young people going missing, since going 
missing can be both a cause and a consequence of being sexually exploited.

3.0 CSE – The Local Picture

3.1 The members of WSCB are responsible for ensuring that the efforts of those 
agencies and groups who have contact with children work individually and 
collectively to ensure that children are supported and protected from the risk.

WSCB has a statutory duty to publish an annual report on the effectiveness of 
child safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children in Wolverhampton. 
The most recent Wolverhampton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 
2014-15 provides an assessment of the performance and effectiveness of 
local services safeguarding arrangements during the preceding year. The 
report details specific work done to protect vulnerable children from the risk of 
being sexually exploited and progress made against key work priorities.

WSCB has a number of sub-groups tasked to investigate and report findings 
to them on work done to improve safeguarding local safeguarding policies and 
practices, for example, Child Missing Operational Group (CMOG) and Sexual 
Exploitation, Missing and Trafficked (SEMT) group. The various groups are 
chaired by the appropriate lead and report their progress to WSCB meetings.

3.2 In October 2014, Wolverhampton had 14 children identified as being at risk 
across the City of being sexually exploited.  Based on evidence presented by 
West Midlands Police there are now an estimated 25 victims of CSE in 
Wolverhampton. In addition, it was reported that 15 offenders of CSE were 
identified in Wolverhampton. A factor behind the increase in the number of 
cases was the improved focus by all partner agencies in this area, which has 
led to the early identification of victims and offenders.  The data relates to the 
period April to June 2015. 

Page 27

http://www.wolverhamptonsafeguarding.org.uk/index.php/safeguarding-children-and-young-people/safeguarding-children-board/wscb-annual-report
http://www.wolverhamptonsafeguarding.org.uk/index.php/safeguarding-children-and-young-people/safeguarding-children-board/wscb-annual-report


3.3 West Midlands Police have acknowledged the difficulty in getting accurate 
information locally and nationally about the prevalence of CSE. The following 
factors have been listed as factors which contribute to the challenge:

• Low levels of reporting by young people
• Variable levels of awareness and confusion about the definition
• Inadequate intelligence gathering and information sharing
• Inconsistent recording

3.4 See Appendix 5 for further details about the number of recorded CSE 
incidents (crimes and non-crimes) across the West Midlands Police area, 
including Wolverhampton between 1 April 2014 and March 31 2015.

The majority of identified victims are white; aged 13-17 and 24/25 cases were 
female. 

The 25 cases are rated as follows:

7 – at risk
12 – significant risk
6 – serious risk

In a more recent report presented to WSCB West Midlands Operations 
Groups' Data on young people at risk of CSE by Local Authority Area: 
October - December 2015 included an updated assessment on the previous 
data.

60 female
12 male

33 – significant risk
27 – at risk
12 – serious risk

White UK 39 (54 per cent)
Not known 20 (28 per cent)

3.5 The level of risk is based on the results of the initial CSE Screening Tool. The 
screening tool is required to ensure that an appropriate response can be 
made as a medium/ high risk referral would be treated as a priority and a 
response is made within two working days.

3.6 The level of risk is reviewed at monthly Multi Agency Sexual Exploitation 
(MASE) meetings. MASE meetings are also used by members to manage and 
review the level of risk to young person of being sexually exploited and 
ensuring the young person and their family are receiving the right level of 
support from partner agencies. 

Page 28



3.7 MASE meetings are also used to identify and disrupt offenders and alleged 
perpetrators as part of an action plan to protect a young person; while at the 
same time considering the city-wide picture, emerging trends and challenges. 

3.8 Based on current data there are 279 suspected perpetrators across the West 
Midlands and the police were involved in 60 large scale investigations. An 
analysis of data shows that Asian males were over represented in the profile 
of perpetrators. There are few examples of abuse cases involving children 
and young people from Eastern Europe.

3.9 West Midlands Police has undertaken detailed mapping work on the profile of 
CSE in Wolverhampton and across the West Midlands region. The mapping 
work includes a profile of children identified as at risk, offenders and an 
understanding of ‘hotspots’ or vulnerable locations across Wolverhampton. 
The level of risk is reducing in some areas and the police are working hard to 
increase the number of people charged.

3.10 At present seven locations in the Wolverhampton area are considered to be 
particularly active areas for CSE. Wolverhampton city centre has been 
identified as a hotspot area for CSE activity.

3.11 Evidence presented about supported lodgings and accommodation for young 
vulnerable people in Wolverhampton being deliberately targeted by 
perpetrators. This issue is a problem across the Black Country region. The 
City of Wolverhampton Council in response to safeguarding concerns are 
decommissioning children homes and using alternatives such a specialist 
foster care provision.

3.12 The Head of Safeguarding commented about the issue of young people 
coming into the area that are not known to the safeguarding service, and 
therefore at risk of being sexually exploited. There are systems in place to 
monitor children moving into the area and to track children nationally and 
internationally. Local authorities are under a requirement when child moves 
into an area to ensure that they get the right support and when a child moves 
to formally notify the receiving area. 

3.13 The current funding for the post of Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Co-
ordinator has been extended to 2017. The Head of Safeguarding raised 
concerns about the demands on the post holder following the work of MASH 
in identifying more vulnerable children. The Head of Safeguarding suggested 
that current numbers could increase to from 30 to 70, which will require an 
extra worker to meet the demand as CSE Co-Ordinator is expected to attend 
MASE meetings.

3.14 In addition, a CSE plan is created with the aim of ensuring that all agencies 
involved with the young person understand the child’s circumstances, listen to 
what they are saying and offer them a support package that will protect them. 

Page 29



3.15 CSE victims in Wolverhampton compared to other local authorities in the 
West Midlands area 

Identified cases of young people at risk
Local Authority April – June 2015 October – December 

2015
Wolverhampton 25 72
Birmingham 380 220
Walsall 24 47
Dudley 37 62
Coventry 118 177
Sandwell 100 114
Solihull 36 62

                   Source: West Midlands Police (April - June 2015) 
Tackling Child Sexual Exploitation across the West Midlands 
Metropolitan Region Assessment: October - December 2015

3.16 In evidence, presented by Stephen Rimmer, West Midlands Strategic Lead for 
Preventing Violence Against Vulnerable People (PVVP), it was stated that the 
number of children in Wolverhampton considered to be at risk is proportionally 
the smallest in the region, when compared to our local neighbours.  (This 
finding is based on the figures presented to the review group at the time 
before the latest figures were published which show an increase in the 
number of young people at risk.)

3.17 The work of the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub and (MASH) other 
awareness raising activities is expected to lead to an increase in the number 
of CSE cases; while there is an expectation that the current number of young 
people at highest risk will reduce following effective interventions.

3.18 The Head of Safeguarding explained that working relations between the 
police and the local authority are much better and changes in procedures and 
policies are being embedded into practice. For example, there is an agreed 
‘step down’ process which provides a uniform process of dealing with a 
change in the assessment of risk to the child or young person.

 
3.19 The Head of Safeguarding commented on the need to consider the racial and 

cultural differences, attitudes about the acceptable behaviour, particularly 
towards young girls, and the challenge in engaging with existing and new 
communities living in Wolverhampton to raise awareness about CSE.

3.20 Evidence presented of improved working relationships with schools in terms 
of safeguarding referrals and their policies and practices. WSCB arranged a 
recent safeguarding event aimed at encouraging school staff to think more 
broadly about the issue.  

Page 30



City of Wolverhampton Council produces weekly information bulletins, and 
meets with school Head teachers and school governors to discuss a range of 
educational and welfare issues.

3.21 The Cabinet Member for Education commented on work done to build 
relationships with all schools, while acknowledging that they have a choice 
about how they meet their safeguarding responsibilities.

3.22 WSCB has made good progress in developing policies that everyone would 
expect to be in place with the aim of preventing children from being referred 
because of safeguarding concerns. The challenge of identifying perpetrators 
who enter professions with access to children and young people was 
highlighted as an issue and the need for robust checks. 

3.23 Evidence presented by WSCB that the relationship with GP’s is a weakness. 
The Board is committed to building relations with GPs and all schools due to 
their front line role in helping to identify potentially vulnerable young people.  

3.24 Claire Thomas, Designated Doctor for Safeguarding Children Wolverhampton 
CCG, in evidence stated that GP'S have had three sessions of level 3 
Safeguarding Children training over the last year. The training included the 
issue of child sexual exploitation as one of the core competencies.  In 
addition, GPs received a CSE update from the local authority CSE Co-
ordinator as part of their regular team update training.

3.25 The Designated Doctor advised the review group that following the evidence 
session the members of the Wolverhampton CCG held a health CSE scoping 
meeting to discuss their role in safeguarding children and young people. Local 
representatives from the main health providers such as GP, Accident & 
Emergency, GUM, paediatrics and mental health and others were invited to 
contribute to the discussion. 

The scoping meeting outlined what the different providers were adding to the 
agenda and the level of representation by individuals on the groups, such as 
MASE, CMOG, and SEMT; and whether these participants needed to be 
updated. The meeting also addressed the use of the CSE screening tool in 
these areas.

3.26 Evidence from representatives of the health sector suggests that there is clear 
commitment in the health sector to meet their safeguarding responsibilities 
and protect vulnerable children. 

3.27 The Head of Safeguarding commented on the need for ‘professional curiosity’ 
and for professionals to challenge their assumption and carefully consider 
evidence for themselves.

3.28 Witnesses have highlighted the importance of raising the awareness of the 
issue of CSE with parents and community groups and representatives. 

Page 31



3.29 The Head of Safeguarding commented on work being done to share 
information between agencies across the region on a bi-monthly basis.

3.10 An updated Tackling Child Sexual Exploitation across the West Midlands 
Metropolitan Region Assessment: October - December 2015 report was 
published by West Midlands Police. The report provides an update on the 
nature and scale of CSE across the West Midlands. The findings are based 
on data from the seven Local Authorities within the West Midlands Police 
boundary, in conjunction with the police.

4.0 Wolverhampton response to the Jay Report findings

4.1 WSCB published its Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy in 2014. This 
document sets out the strategy for Safeguarding and protecting the welfare of 
children from Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) in Wolverhampton. 

4.2 Dawn Williams, Head of Safeguarding, published a briefing note for 
Councillors in September 2014. The briefing paper gave a summary of 
Wolverhampton’s response to the findings and recommendations of the Jay 
Report.

4.3 The Head of Safeguarding provides regular briefings on current CSE position 
in Wolverhampton and the progress made in meeting its responsibilities to the 
Leader of the Council, Managing Director and the Strategic Director People.

4.4 An online CSE and safeguarding training courses has been developed for 
employees and Councillors. The course is mandatory.

4.5 SEMT – Sexually Exploited Missing and Trafficked Committee is a sub group 
of Children Missing Operational Group (CMOG) and both groups are chaired 
by West Midlands Police. SEMT Chair provides regular updates to the WSCB 
including details of good practice and performance data. The report includes 
details of how Wolverhampton compares against local, regional and national 
performance standards.

4.6 Wolverhampton established a Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) on 5 
January 2016 – see Appendix 6 for details about MASH.

4.7 WSCB funded a CSE Co-ordinator post to further strengthen safeguarding 
policies and practices. The post was initially funded for 12 months but was 
extended for a further 12 months.  At the date of drafting there are early 
discussions about the future funding of the post at the end of the two year 
period. The City of Wolverhampton Council appointed a Schools 
Safeguarding Officer in September 2015. The School Safeguarding Officer 
provides safeguarding training and support to 52 schools that have a service 
level agreement with the City of Wolverhampton Council to help them meet 
their statutory responsibilities.

Page 32



4.8 WSCB have a contract with the Empower project. The project currently 
delivers a range of preventative and supportive work to young people. The 
prevention work includes developing a bespoke programme of work covering 
themes such as grooming, sexual health, healthy relationships and consent, 
protective behaviours around technology, personal safety and identifying risk. 

4.9 WSCB arranged a series of public events during National Safeguarding Week 
to raise awareness of the issue. The public response to the campaign work 
done during Safeguarding Week in Wolverhampton has identified areas for 
further work to refine key messages aimed at raising awareness among 
specific target groups.

4.10 Stephen Dodd, Chairperson of Wolverhampton Safeguarding’s 
Communication & Engagement Committee, presented detailed evidence of 
the promotional work being done with partner agencies to raise awareness 
about the issue of CSE and to engage with children and young people by 
providing appropriate resources and information.  The panel welcome the 
development of the new Wolverhampton Safeguarding home page which is 
timetabled to go live on 1 March 2016.

4.11 The review group welcomed the findings of a Facebook advertising campaign 
to reach children and young people in Wolverhampton. The review group 
welcomed the work of B-Safe Team which was established in January 2015. 
The members of the group are young people with direct experience of 
receiving support available to vulnerable young people. The stated aim of the 
B-Safe Team is to invite, challenge and encourage young people to get 
involved in safeguarding.

4.12 B-Safe Project operates in a number of schools and provides peer support 
scheme to other young people. Young people are trained on recognising the 
signs of grooming and the risk signs. The HeadStart programme is another 
project aimed at helping young people to build confidence and resilience in 
dealing with issues such as bullying. The project has been granted £10,000 of 
initial funding and the hope is that if successful could lead to further funding 
bids. A funding bid to the Big Lottery Fund of £10 million has been submitted 
to support the programme.

4.13 A range of outreach work is being done to build relationships with 
representatives of different faith groups in Wolverhampton to take forward the 
safeguarding agenda to raise its profile and support changes in local practice 
and behaviour to better protect young people.

4.14 WSCB contributes to SeeMeHear project which is a West Midlands regional 
CSE resource containing information, advice and support.

Page 33

http://youthlink.btck.co.uk/Empower
http://www.wolverhamptonsafeguarding.org.uk/index.php
http://www.seeme-hearme.org.uk/


4.15 The City of Wolverhampton Council Licensing Service has been proactive in 
raising the awareness of the issue of CSE with licensed taxi drivers and in 
taking proactive action to disrupt the work of perpetrators. For example, 
offering training on CSE for drivers licensed to operate in Wolverhampton.

5.0 West Midlands response to the Jay Report findings

5.1 Stephen Rimmer, West Midlands Strategic Lead for PVVP, was appointed to 
lead a review across all seven metropolitan local authorities looking at a wide 
range of issues such as domestic violence; but with a central focus on 
developing a collective response to the threat of CSE. 

5.2 The Strategic Lead for PVVP was tasked to co-ordinate the development of a 
strategic and operating framework that would deliver consistent and effective 
practice across the region. A framework document was launched in July 2014, 
but significantly revised in the draft published in July 2015. The partners are 
committed to publishing quarterly regional assessments of the scale of risk, 
threat and harm across the region of CSE, and their response to it. This 
information will help to provide a baseline to review progress being made in 
Wolverhampton to take the necessary action to protect children against CSE.

5.3 Wolverhampton Safeguarding Children’s Board (WSCB) will monitor the 
delivery of the action plan linked to regional framework document.

5.4 The Strategic Lead for PVVP praised the contribution of Katie Young, CSE 
Co-ordinator, in embedding systematic MASE case conferences on high risk 
cases and the level of challenge offered to partner agencies. 

5.5 The Strategic Lead for PVVP also praised the strong level of engagement 
from the Local Policing Unit and their use of neighbourhood policing and other 
resources to pursue perpetrators and support efforts to protect children.

5.6 The Strategic Lead for PVVP led on the development of a common approach 
to dealing with cases of missing or trafficked children across the region. 

5.7 West Midlands Metropolitan Area Child Sexual Exploitation Disruption Toolkit 
has been published. The document details a range of work led by West 
Midlands Police to protect children and young people from harm and 
prosecuting those who commit sexual crimes against them. The document 
also details the range of legal powers available to the police that can be used 
to either deter or disrupt the work of perpetrators and prosecute them where 
there is sufficient evidence.

Page 34



6.0 Challenges to Wolverhampton

6.1 The Strategic Lead for PVVP commented on the challenges facing local 
agencies in protecting children and young people and specifically the impact 
of current policies and plans on individual and groups involved in sexual 
exploitation. 

6.2 The Strategic Lead for PVVP commented that the issue of protecting children 
from perpetrators is a challenge for the West Midlands region as a whole; and 
while good engagement work is being done, the number of prosecutions is 
small in number. 

The following comment was made

“…there are some very nasty, manipulative and violent individuals and 
networks still making (depressing rational) calculations that if they target 
really vulnerable girls and boys they will remain in control.”

6.3 The lack of support for young people, who may not want to disclose that they 
have been sexually exploited or even to recognise that they are a victim, is 
another contributory factor in the low levels of successful prosecutions.

6.4 Wolverhampton’s approach to responding to the threats posed by CSE to 
children and young people will depend on the extent to which policies take 
account of the City’s characteristics. The approach will also need to consider 
the level of public concern/anxiety, and embedding best practice and lessons 
learnt within the wider safeguarding procedures across all the key agencies.

7.0 Discussion - Findings

7.1 A key part of the review involved inviting witnesses with knowledge of the 
subject to submit written evidence and also contribute to discussions to help 
inform the findings and recommendations. In addition, to the planned 
meetings, evidence was also collected during visits to representatives of other 
organisations. 

7.2 All witnesses were sent a short guide on preparing evidence and a copy of the 
review terms of reference – see Appendix 7 for a list of witnesses. The 
review meetings were structured around questions linked to the following 
themes:

 Prevent: Raising awareness of CSE among young people, parents, carers 
and potential perpetrators.

 Prepare: Providing strong leadership, effective systems whilst working 
with partners to tackle CSE.

Page 35



 Pursue: Disrupting, arresting and prosecuting CSE offenders, ensuring a 
victim centred approach at all times.

 Protect: Safeguarding vulnerable young people and supporting victims 
and those professionals who seek to reduce instances of CSE.

7.3 The evidence from witnesses suggests that there is strong commitment 
across all local partners to ensure that existing safeguarding policies and 
procedures make a real difference in supporting efforts to identify and protect 
children and young people from being sexually exploited. 

7.4 The evidence from meetings with representatives from the health and 
education sectors suggests there is a similar commitment to improving local 
safeguarding arrangements and meeting best practice national standards.  

7.5 Important that there continues to be the appropriate level of challenge so that 
there is a clear focus by key agencies on those children considered to be at 
risk and those generating harm. This work needs to be part of long term 
strategy where local partners are committed to safeguarding children.

7.6 The local community has an important role in protecting children and young 
people. It is important that local residents are made aware of the issue and 
are encouraged to identify and report concerns about a child or young person.

7.7 The National Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness Day aims to highlight the 
issues surrounding CSE; encouraging everyone to think, spot and speak 
out against abuse and adopt a zero tolerance to adults developing 
inappropriate relationships with children or children developing inappropriate 
relationships with other children.

The following is a summary of the review group findings and observations under the 
main themes listed above

8.0 Prevent

8.1 The review group welcomed the statement from Independent Chair of WSCB 
that there was no evidence to suggest that abuse claims locally were either 
being ignored or not being properly investigated by professionals.

8.2 WSCB published its annual report 2014/15. The report detailed a review of 
work done to protect children and specific activities aimed at identifying and 
support vulnerable children considered to be at risk of sexual exploitation. The 
report details an action plan aimed at strengthening areas of practice and 
policy identified as weaknesses during a review of progress.

8.3 Witness evidence made reference to the evidence presented at the time of 
the numbers of CSE victims in Wolverhampton and the level of under 
reporting of cases. 

Page 36

https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/about-us/events/child-sexual-exploitation-awareness-day


Witness evidence has also highlighted the issue of under reporting of CSE 
cases involving young males and black and minority ethnic children and the 
need to encourage young people and the community to report their concerns.

8.4 The review group are concerned that the teaching of Personal Social Health 
Education (PHSE) is not compulsory in schools and therefore there is no 
proper opportunity to discuss a range of safeguarding and relationship issues. 
The review group accept that range of factors - schools are autonomous; the 
pressure to meet educational attainment targets; the congested school 
curriculum and the views of parents will make it difficult to persuade all 
schools to make the changes that the review group would like to see.

8.5 The Head of Safeguarding commented that not all school governors fully 
understood their safeguarding role. The review group accept that while school 
governors are encouraged to attend safeguarding training there is no statutory 
obligation for local authority governors to do so. The role of the local authority 
is to offer or signpost governors to sources of information. The feedback from 
those attending the school governor course has been very positive.

8.6 The review group are concerned however about the low numbers of school 
governors and fellow Councillors attending safeguarding training sessions. In 
evidence it was reported that six governors attended the safeguarding 
awareness training session on 5 November 2015 and the same number 
attended the course on 10 November 2015. The review group consider that 
there is need to consider alternative strategies to increase the numbers 
attending training or to engage with the safeguarding agenda. A witness 
suggested arranging training sessions in local venues might encourage more 
people to attend. 

8.7 The School Safeguarding Officer is working with schools that have a service 
level agreement with the Council. The School Safeguarding Officer works with 
schools to help them prepare supporting documents and other evidence 
needed to complete the annual schools safeguarding self-audit report. In the 
latest review it was reported by the Head of Safeguarding that 100 per cent of 
schools had completed their safeguarding report.

To date the School Safeguarding Officer has delivered two Governor training 
– ‘Roles and Responsibilities’ sessions, 10 bespoke sessions for Service 
Level Agreement (SLA) schools and one session for a non-SLA school.

8.8 WSCB is required to monitor and evaluate any organisations working with 
children and young people and ensure they are fulfilling their statutory 
safeguarding obligations. An analysis of by the Head of Safeguarding has 
highlighted examples of poor practice in schools, for example, the quality of 
safeguarding training for all schools and in particular for volunteers. 
The findings are being reviewed and support provided where there are gaps 
in the safeguarding policies and practices.

Page 37



8.9 GP’s and schools are at the front line and should be the first to notice if things 
are wrong with a young person and to report it.

8.10 The findings of a recent survey highlighted that not all Wolverhampton 
Councillors have completed the compulsory online child sexual awareness 
course. 

8.11 In view of the hidden nature of sexual abuse Councillors have an important 
role of reviewing Council policies and practices to reassure themselves that 
there are effective safeguarding arrangements in place to protect children and 
vulnerable adults when commissioning services.

8.12 Evidence from Barnado’s highlighted the need to support young people to 
also develop healthy relationships and recognise the signs of damaging 
relationships. Barnado’s have produced very useful online material to support 
this work-Real Love Rocks.  

Barnardo’s has been awarded over £700,000 by the Department for 
Education for a 12-month pilot project to teach night-time workers how to 
protect children from sexual exploitation after dark. The project is being 
piloted in Birmingham.

9.0 Prepare

9.1 The evidence from witnesses suggests that there is increased awareness 
across local authorities in the region to review effectiveness of current policies 
aimed at protecting children from the risk of sexual exploitation. For example, 
both Birmingham City Council and Telford and Wrekin District Councils have 
undertaken major reviews on the topic of child sexual exploitation.

9.2 The review group welcomed the evidence presented by the Independent 
Chair, WSCB, about the work done to develop policies with partner agencies 
aimed at preventing children from being referred because of safeguarding 
concerns. 

9.3 The Independent Chair, WSCB, highlighted the important role of Councillors 
in reviewing policies and in the commissioning of Council services to reassure 
themselves that effective safeguarding arrangements are in place to protect 
children and vulnerable adults. 

9.4 The review group support the initiative of WSCB to contact all known faith 
groups in Wolverhampton to ask about their safeguarding and child protection 
arrangements. The review group are concerned about the low initial response 
to the survey and are keen to receive update on progress to evidence of the 
extent to which policies have been translated into better practices and 
increased awareness of the issue. In evidence presented to the review a list 
of more than 200 faith groups were identified, some previously unknown to 
WSCB.

Page 38

http://www.barnardosrealloverocks.org.uk/


9.5 The review was reassured by the Cabinet Member for Children and Young 
People that partner agencies are being challenged about the progress made 
in meeting their safeguarding responsibilities. The Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young People has the prevention of child sexual exploitation 
amongst her policy areas of responsibility. 

9.6 In addition, to other responsibilities the Cabinet Member has specific 
responsibility for “championing the interests of children, young people and 
their families within the local authority’s area (including all those receiving 
services who do not live in the area).” The evidence presented shows a strong 
commitment by the Cabinet Member to meet these and other responsibilities 
necessary to protect children in Wolverhampton.

9.7 The issue of the amount of dedicated specialist capacity provided by 
Wolverhampton Council and other members of WSCB are putting into tackling 
CSE, when compared to other local authorities in the West Midlands region, 
has been identified as an issue for further investigation.

9.8 The review group welcome the positive response to the issues highlighted 
during the evidence session with Colin Parr, Licensing Manager. The role of 
licensed taxi vehicles in trafficking victims of sexual exploitation has been 
highlighted in a number of national reports. The review group welcome the 
range of initiatives led by the Licensing Manager aimed at responding to these 
findings and the use of licensing controls to strengthen safeguarding 
arrangements in Wolverhampton. 

The review group particularly welcome the decision of the Licensing Manager 
to implement its suggestions for further strengthening safeguarding policies in 
respect of licensed taxi drivers before a final report is presented to Cabinet - 
see Appendix 8.  

9.9 The review group while acknowledging the safeguarding training programme 
delivered to new drivers remain concerned about the number of existing 
drivers who have not yet completed the course. The review group welcome 
the plans outlined by the Licensing Manager to respond to this concern and to 
ensure that all drivers complete the safeguarding training. The review group 
are concerned about Government plans to relax current vehicle licensing 
regulations which would allow drivers to be licensed in another authority to 
operate within Wolverhampton; without completing the current safeguarding 
training course.

9.10 In evidence it was stated that schools that do not have a service level 
agreement with the City of Wolverhampton Council are responsible for 
obtaining their own safeguarding advice and support from elsewhere. 
It is important to note that the City of Wolverhampton Council does quality 
assure the safeguarding training delivered to these schools by other 
providers.

Page 39



9.11 Emma Bennett, Service Director, Children and Young People, explained the 
range of work being done to identify and support missing children. There is a 
strong link between children who go missing and the chances of them 
becoming a victim of CSE. The process is now that all children who go 
missing are checked against the CSE risk indicator checklist at the point of 
return interview and if there is a significant risk are identified then the CSE 
screening tool is completed and referred appropriately for action.

The Service Director commented on the link between young people being 
disengaged from education and their vulnerability to being sexually exploited. 
Service Director explained that all permanently excluded pupils will have their 
level of risk assessed. In addition, all social workers have been briefed on the 
issue of CSE to check that cases are appropriately allocated and children at 
risk are identified at an early stage.

9.12 Evidence that partners are engaging in protecting children and young people 
from CSE. The service is receiving appropriate referrals and good attendance 
at MASE meetings. However, the issue of capacity of partners to progress 
cases to MASE has been reported as an issue.

9.13 The review group would welcome an evaluation of the effectiveness of 
Wolverhampton’s child sexual exploitation strategy against local and 
national performance standards. In addition, data on the number of the 
referrals and outcomes from the CSE pathway including: 

 Number of referrals by organisation per year. 
 Number of cases identified as CSE per year.
 Information on the outcomes of these cases.

10.0 Pursue

10.1 West Midlands Police have a dedicated CSE police team responsible for the 
Walsall and Wolverhampton Local Authority areas. The investigation into CSE 
cases are very resource intensive. The team is based in Walsall. Members of 
the review accepted an invitation to visit Bilston Street Police station to 
Wolverhampton Police Station to meet the members of Public Protection Unit. 
The visit was very informative about the range of work done by the police to 
locate missing children and to further improve practice following a recent 
inspection of the service.

10.2 West Midlands Police have delivered a training package to all frontline police 
officers (constable and sergeant levels) to improve their knowledge and 
awareness of child safeguarding. The model was first piloted in Walsall area 
for six months before being expanded to cover the Wolverhampton area .The 
changes were made in response to the increase in the number of reported 
CSE cases. The work will be strengthened by monthly meetings with partners 
and the opportunity to pool intelligence on children at risk and also offenders.

Page 40



10.3 West Midlands Police, in evidence to the review acknowledged the 
importance of building up the confidence and trust of victims that this process 
will take time. 

10.4 In a recent successful prosecution a person was sentenced to five years in 
prison for sexual activity with a child and grooming offences. However, Head 
of Safeguarding explained that nationally the rate of conviction for CSE is low 
and that current laws are not an effective deterrent to serious sexual 
offenders, who consider the risk of being caught to be low. The Independent 
Chair, WSCB has raised the issue of low prosecution of perpetrators with 
representatives of the Crown Prosecution Service.

10.5 The police have powers to require hotels to disclose the personal details of 
guests, such as names and addresses if they have a 'reasonable suspicion' 
that someone is committing crimes against children. The police can also apply 
to close of a hotel or premises where there is evidence that the premises are 
being used for prostitution and child pornography offences.
 

10.6 West Midlands Police, presented evidence during a discussion about the 
ethnic profile of perpetrators involved in recent national CSE cases and that 
they were not aware of intelligence suggesting gangs within the Muslim 
community were deliberately targeting girls within the Asian community in 
Wolverhampton. This information conflicts with other evidence which suggests 
that there are many examples of young girls being sexually abused, but who 
are reluctant to report such incidents due to fear. The number of victims is 
likely to be therefore under reported within the community.

10.7 Shaista Gohir (MBE), Chair - Muslim Women’s Network UK, presented 
evidence which highlighted the additional problems facing Asian girls who are 
victims of sexual abuse and reasons for their reluctance to report such 
incidents. The findings were based on a survey which was published in a 
report Unheard Voices - Sexual Exploitation of Asian Girls and Young Women  
(September 2013). The reported highlighted that based on their evidence a 
child can be targeted by an offender of any background, and further that  
Asian/ Muslim girls were most vulnerable to offenders from their own 
communities.  For example, in cases involving Pakistani victims, the offenders 
were usually Pakistani or when victim was Bangladeshi, the offenders were 
also Bangladeshi.

10.8 The review group welcomed the recommendation from the Muslim Women’s 
Network that police data collection needs to record detailed information about 
the ethnicity of offenders and victims rather the use of the generic category of 
‘Asian’ for both victims and offenders. 

10.9 The Head of Safeguarding commented that University of Bedfordshire ‘Self-
Assessment tool’ is being used to collect more detailed personal information 
about victims and alleged perpetrators.

Page 41

http://www.mwnuk.co.uk/resourcesDetail.php?id=97


11.0 Protect

11.1 The Head of Safeguarding, commented that based on her experience of other 
local authorities who have set up a MASH, for example Birmingham City 
Council, the number of known CSE referrals is expected to increase. At this 
stage it is difficult to assess the future demands on the resources of agencies 
represented on WSCB. 

11.2 Sally Nash, Youth Offending Team Manager, commented on the complexity of 
situation and the need for strategies that address offending behaviour of 
adults. 

11.3 The Youth Offending Team Manager commented that there is a need to 
improve the amount of psychological services available to children and young 
people. The Youth Offending Team Manager highlighted the importance of 
adopting a whole family approach to reducing CSE. The Youth Offending 
Team manager commented that the offender/victim divide is not always clear 
cut. The Youth Offending Team manager presented evidence about victims of 
sexual exploitation becoming offenders in the future and the need to 
challenge services is how they deal with this situation. For example, the 
challenge of supporting people who are both victims of CSE and also acting 
as perpetrators involved in grooming other young people. This is defined as 
peer-on-peer abuse.

11.4 Evidence presented by Lesley Writtle, Director of Operations, Black Country 
Partnership Foundation Trust reported that the organisation does not have a 
specialist role or service available to support victims of CSE and their families. 
The Director of Operations commented that the Trust would be able to 
support family members whose mental health had been affected by CSE after 
an assessment and considered suitable for structured psychological therapy. 

The important of role of parents and families in identifying children being 
sexually exploited or at risk has been highlighted in a number of publications. 
For example, PACE (UK) (Parents Against Child Sexual Exploitation) was set 
up by parents to provide support to parents affected by child sexual 
exploitation so that they can become active agents in responding to the 
sexual exploitation and abuse of their children. PACE has published a range 
of resources for parents and carers.

11.5 The Service Director, Children and Young People, commented on the need to 
ensure that there are measures to further protect and protect the most 
vulnerable children from engaging in CSE. 

The Service Director commented on evidence that Looked after Children, 
young offenders, children excluded form education and those who regularly 
go missing are most at risk of sexual exploitation. The Service Director 
expressed concern that there are no specific actions to ensure we prioritise 
protecting these groups.

Page 42



11.6 The review group highlighted concerns about resource gaps, for example, in 
dedicated frontline counselling support available to victims of CSE and their 
families. Witness evidence has commented on how sexual exploitation can 
seriously affect a victim’s life into adulthood resulting in a range of damaging 
mental and physical illnesses and the importance of providing appropriate 
support in the short and long-term.

11.7 Jennie Watton, Empower Co-ordinator/ SAFE, argued that more resources 
are needed to help victims of CSE access appropriate emotional and mental 
health support services. The current waiting list to access these services was 
identified as a barrier for young people seeking help. 

Base 25 Empower project provides one-to-one key working support to victims 
and families of CSE. The review group were advised that funding for the 
project will end in September 2016. The additional funding for the project from 
Children in Need ends in December 2016. 

The performance measures for the project includes, number of young people 
increased awareness of CSE, number of young people who have reduction in 
risky behaviour including substance misuse, sexual and criminal behaviour, 
number of young people in appropriate and safe accommodation, number of 
young people who have improved family relationships.

11.8 The evidence from witnesses has highlighted that an implication for the 
Council and members of WSCB adopting an increasingly proactive approach 
to tackling CSE is that this will generate greater confidence in the reporting 
incidents leading to increasing demand on the resource capacity of key 
agencies. West Midlands Police, Public Protection Unit, has already 
highlighted in evidence to the review the impact of increased demand on the 
service as a result of its own and other local agencies work to identify victims 
of CSE and their alleged perpetrators.

11.9 City of Wolverhampton Council Legal Services has an important role in 
disrupting the behaviour of suspected perpetrators in Civil Courts and in 
protecting children considered to be at risk. Legal Services provides the 
following advisory services to Social Services.  A Legal Gateway Meeting - 
meetings are held fortnightly, and provide an opportunity for social workers to 
seek legal advice over cases they are concerned about.  

In addition, Legal Services also provide duty rota service to social services. 
Social Workers or their managers can call the duty telephone to seek advice. 
Legal Services also has a role in meeting the Council’s safeguarding 
responsibilities – see Appendix 9 for details.

11.10 City of the Wolverhampton Council is a Licensing authority to effectively tackle 
and reduce the risk of sexual exploitation of children and young people in 
licensed businesses or by licensed persons. 

Page 43



Licensing Services issue a range of licences, consents and permissions to 
businesses covering a host of regulated activities. There are in excess of forty 
different licensing regimes delivered by the service.  

11.11 The areas of licensing that have the greatest potential for issues to arise 
relating to the sexual exploitation of children are detailed below:

 Licensing Act 2003 (alcohol, entertainment and late night refreshment 
licensing)

 Taxis
 Gambling Act 2005
 Sex Establishment Licensing
 Street Trading

11.12 To date, no instances of CSE have been reported to the licensing authority 
regarding persons or businesses licenced under the Gambling Act 2005, 
Street Trading or Sex Establishment Licensing.  Protocols for dealing with any 
such report would broadly mirror those applicable to premises licensed under 
the Licensing Act 2003. The licensing service has a performance measure to 
assess its effectiveness in responding to CSE complaints within one working 
day. The service has achieved 100 per cent compliance with this performance 
indicator since its inception in 2012.
 

11.13 Following the grant of a licence, responsible authorities can also request the 
licensing authority review the licence if they believe the licence holder has 
failed to promote the licensing objectives. The coordination of the activities of 
responsible authorities is managed through the ‘Responsible Authorities 
Forum’ (RAF). The Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) for Children’s 
Safeguarding is a standing member of the RAF.  

11.14 Licensing Services have carried out a self-assessment against the findings of 
the Casey Report, which investigated allegations of historic child sexual 
abuse in Rotherham, and found the service was performing well in those 
areas Casey highlighted as concerns when compared to Rotherham MBC. 

11.15 A weakness that has been identified in the current licensing regime is the 
inability of the Licensing Authority to conduct an ‘expedited licence review’ for 
premises that do not sell alcohol. This limits the Licensing Authority’s ability to 
immediately close food takeaway businesses where CSE is alleged to have 
taken place. Since March 2015 all new applications and reviews are screened 
by the LADO for Children’s Safeguarding prior to being determined by 
employees or the Licensing Sub-Committee.

11.16 Safeguarding has been a key component of the new driver training 
programme since 2011. However, in July 2015 the Licensing Committee 
approved a revised driver training programme which extended the 
safeguarding content to include CSE awareness. In the last 12 months there 
have been two reports of suspected CSE involving taxi drivers. 

Page 44



In both cases, the drivers attended a hearing on the same day that the report 
was received and in one case a driver’s licence was revoked with immediate 
effect.

11.17 At date of drafting it was reported that all drivers licensed since 2011 and all 
those that are on Home to School contracts will have completed some 
safeguarding training. This equates to about 50 per cent of the total driver 
fleet. The content for driver training planned for later in the year will include a 
section on CSE. The review group were advised that CSE literature is 
distributed to licensed drivers but they are not required to display the material; 
as it is not a requirement of their licence.

11.18 Claire Thomas, Designated Doctor for Safeguarding (The Royal 
Wolverhampton NHS Trust) explained that the CCG does not have access or 
the ability to collate the number of referrals received from health professionals 
about safeguarding concerns. This is information is collected by the local 
authority safeguarding team.  

The Designated Doctor for Safeguarding commented in response to a query 
about the effectiveness of training that nationally there have been difficulties 
in demonstrating its impact on protecting children. The review group were told 
that WSCB have developed evaluation tools that give a more meaningful 
responses and in the future (with the appointment of the WSCB training 
coordinator) it is anticipated that there will be follow up post courses work 
done to attempt to demonstrate impact .

Page 45



Appendix 1: Government response to the Jay Report

The Government commissioned an independent inquiry in response to the findings 
of the Home Affairs Select Committee report which investigated the situation in 
Rotherham MBC. The review led by Professor Alexis Jay was published on 26.4.14. 
The findings of the “Jay Report” 

For example, key agencies; police, health and council staff failed in their duty to 
protect some of the most vulnerable children in Rotherham; with clear evidence of 
reports of child sexual exploitation being disbelieved, suppressed or ignored. The 
report stated that an estimated 1,400 children, some as young as 11 years old, were 
sexually exploited over a 16-year period between 1997- 2013.  In addition, children 
were trafficked to other towns and cities in the north of England, abducted, beaten 
and intimidated.

The “Jay Report” port also highlighted specific concerns about the extent to which 
local authorities were meeting their statutory responsibilities to protect children and 
young people from harm.

The Government commissioned a series of further wide ranging reviews in response 
to the findings and recommendations detailed in the “Jay Report”. 

The Secretaries of State for Communities and Local Government wrote to the 
Leaders of the Councils on 24.9.14 asking them to read the “Jay Report” and “... 
consider whether you have adequate measures in place to ensure that you cannot 
be accused of similar failings.” 

The Government and other bodies have published detailed guidance in response to 
the findings of the “Jay Report” challenging local authorities to review and challenge 
current practices and policies to ensure that vulnerable children are being properly 
protected from the risk of sexually exploitation: 

 Tackling Child Sexual Exploitation (March 2015) which makes specific reference 
to the overarching responsibilities of local authorities to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children. 

 Working Together to Safeguard Children (2015) which details what local 
authorities are required to do to meet their responsibilities.

 Governance Handbook(2015) includes a reference to safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of pupils and the responsibilities of school governing 
bodies.

In addition to above guidance the following have been produced to people working in 
primary health and education settings

 Keeping children safe in education – statutory guidance for schools and 
colleges

Page 46

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/report-of-inspection-of-rotherham-metropolitan-borough-council
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-child-sexual-exploitation--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/governance-handbook
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2


 Safeguarding Children Toolkit for General Practice 

The performance of key agencies in meeting their responsibilities to safeguard 
children continues to be inspected and reviewed against national standards.

Page 47

http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/toolkits/the-rcgp-nspcc-safeguarding-children-toolkit-for-general-practice.aspx


Appendix 2: Key questions for Councillors to ask

1. What is the extent and profile of CSE in our local area? How do we know? 

2. Do we have a local CSE strategy and action plan? Are these multi-agency and 
how is progress monitored? How does this link to other plans and strategies? 

3. How effective is the Local Safeguarding Children Board? Are all agencies 
engaged at a senior level, and is CSE an area for priority focus? 

4. Does the relevant scrutiny panel receive the LSCB’s annual report, and use this 
to challenge local priorities and outcomes? 

5. What other multi-agency forums exist to facilitate joint working? 

6. How is CSE incorporated into local training programmes, and who is able to 
access this training? Does this include training for a wider cohort than just those 
professionals working directly with children and young people, such as licensing 
officers, environmental health officers or elected members? Are outcomes 
measured, and are changes made as a result?

7. Is an awareness raising programme in place for children, families and the wider 
community? Is this reaching the right people?

8. What support is available to current, potential and historic victims of CSE? 

Reference: LGA, Tackling child sexual exploitation. A resource pack for councils

Page 48

http://www.local.gov.uk/publications/-/journal_content/56/10180/6916994/PUBLICATION


Appendix 3: Different categories of child sexual exploitation

The Barnardo’s Puppet on a String report defined three broad categories of child 
sexual exploitation. These categories are briefly outlined below:

a) Inappropriate relationships

This usually involves one perpetrator who has inappropriate power or control over a 
young person (physical, emotional or financial). One indicator may be a significant 
age gap. The young person may believe they are in a loving relationship.

b) ‘Boyfriend’ model of exploitation and peer exploitation

The perpetrator befriends and grooms a young person into a ‘relationship’ and then 
coerces or forces them to have sex with friends or associates. Our services have 
reported a rise in peer exploitation where young people are forced or coerced into 
sexual activity by peers and associates. Sometimes this can be associated with gang 
activity but not always.

c) Organised/networked sexual exploitation or trafficking

Young people (often connected) are passed through networks, possibly over 
geographical distances, between towns and cities where they may be either forced 
or coerced into sexual activity with multiple men. Often this occurs at ‘sex parties’ 
and young people who are involved may be used as agents to recruit others into the 
network. Some of this activity is described as serious organised crime and can 
involve the organised ‘buying and selling’ of young people by perpetrators.

There is some crossover between the first two categories. They both involve an 
imbalance of power, which perpetuates the abuse and undermines the will of the 
victim to the extent that they feel unable to remove themselves from the position they 
are in. 

Reference: Barbados’s Puppet on a string The urgent need to cut children free from 
sexual exploitation.

Page 49

http://www.barnardos.org.uk/resources/research_and_publications/puppet-on-a-string-reveals-the-urgent-need-to-cut-children-free-from-sexual-exploitation/publication-view.jsp?pid=PUB-1454
http://www.barnardos.org.uk/resources/research_and_publications/puppet-on-a-string-reveals-the-urgent-need-to-cut-children-free-from-sexual-exploitation/publication-view.jsp?pid=PUB-1454
http://www.barnardos.org.uk/resources/research_and_publications/puppet-on-a-string-reveals-the-urgent-need-to-cut-children-free-from-sexual-exploitation/publication-view.jsp?pid=PUB-1454


Appendix 4: Potential Indicators of CSE

 Having older boyfriend/girlfriend
 Additional mobile phones
 Gang affiliation
 Un-accounted for money
 Drugs
 Poor self-image/low self esteem
 Offending
 Changes in behaviour
 Secrecy
 Suddenly changing peer groups
 Missing
 Not attending schools

Page 50



Appendix 5: Number of recorded CSE incidents (crimes and non-crimes) across the 
West Midlands Police area, including Wolverhampton between 1 April 2014 and 
March 31 2015

Definition of Non Crime - No Victim - No Crime: Where there are grounds to 
suspect that a ‘victim related’ crime i.e. a crime requiring victim confirmation may 
have taken place but no victim, (or person reasonably assumed to be acting on 
behalf of the victim), can immediately be found or identified, then subject to the 
exceptions identified (recording without victim confirmation), the matter must be 
recorded as a crime related incident until such time as the victim is located or comes 
forward to provide an account. 

Reference: West Midlands Police

Page 51



Appendix 6: Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)

 The MASH brings together key professionals to facilitate early, better quality 
information sharing, analysis and decision-making. The stated aim of the MASH 
model is as follows: 

“The model creates a secure environment where safeguarding partners share
information in a dynamic way in order to identify and assess risk which in turn
ensures social care decision makers are able to make necessary and 
proportionate decisions based on the best possible information available at a 
given time.”

 Wolverhampton’s MASH will initially focus on children and vulnerable adults. The 
creation of Wolverhampton MASH is an important part of efforts to improve the 
way children and adults are safeguarded in the city. Wolverhampton MASH 
includes an early help element and the ability to gather and link information and 
intelligence with regard to young people missing and at risk of CSE.

 The work of the MASH will include children at risk of permanent exclusions and 
other groups of children, for example home educated children.

 In the West Midlands Metropolitan Area - Coventry, Birmingham and Sandwell 
have a MASH, Solihull and Walsall have already set up a MASH. Dudley will 
establish its MASH in April 2016.

Page 52



Appendix 7: List of witnesses who have contributed evidence to the review

• Alan Coe, Joint Independent Safeguarding Adult’s and Children’s Board Chair
• Stephen Rimmer, West Midlands Strategic Lead for Preventing Violence 

Against Vulnerable People 
• Shaista Gohir (MBE), Muslim Women’s Network UK
• Cllr Claire Darke, Cabinet Member for Education
• Cllr Val Gibson, Cabinet Member for Children and Young People
• Emma Bennett, Service Director Children and Young People
• DCI Michaela Kerr, West Midlands Police
• Colin Parr, Licensing Manager
• William Humphries, Service Lead, Environmental Health Commercial
• Dawn Williams, Head of Safeguarding
• Katie Young, Child Sexual Exploitation Co-ordinator
• Sally Nash, Youth Offending Team Manager
• Stephen Dodd, Youth Organisation Wolverhampton Co-Ordinator
• Ann Brown, Head Teacher, Secondary School Representative, 

Wolverhampton Safeguarding Children Board (WSCB)
• Mark Heywood, Head Teacher, Independent School Representative, WSCB
• Claire Thomas, Designated Doctor for Safeguarding (The Royal 

Wolverhampton NHS Trust)
• Lorraine Millard, Designated Doctor for Safeguarding (NHS Wolverhampton 

Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG))
• Manjeet Garcha, Executive Lead for Nursing Quality (NHS Wolverhampton 

CCG)
• Jennie Watton, Empower Co-ordinator/ SAFE project worker (Base 25)
• Debbie Southwood, Children’s Service Manager, Barnardo’s Birmingham
• Kush Patel, Strategic Improvement Development Officer – Early Help Children 

& Young People
• Tracey Christie, Head of Legal Services

Page 53



Appendix 8:  Licensing Service

The focus for safeguarding both in licensing and compliance is on taking action 
following complaints. We will take the following steps to improve Private Hire Vehicle 
(PHV) client’s access to making a complaint:

 On the next review of PHV signage Licensing will look at altering / supplementing 
the internal signage to advise clients that enquiries / queries can be made to The 
City of Wolverhampton Council.

 Licensing will also look at improving the relevant parts of the council website to 
ensure that when someone searches on the internet for how to complain about a 
taxi etc….. in Wolverhampton that the relevant Council webpage can be found 
easily and the complainant directed to City Direct.

 It has been raised that some people complain to private hire vehicle operators 
either directly or via their social media sites. On the next review of PHV operator 
conditions an additional condition will be considered requiring the base to make 
complainants aware of City of Wolverhampton Council’s role in licensing and that 
they can complain directly to the Council.   

William Humphries 
Service Lead, Environmental Health Commercial
5.1.16

Page 54



Appendix 9: Legal Services

In order for the Local Authority to instigate protective measures by way of issuing an 
application for care proceedings it needs to be satisfied that the threshold criteria is 
satisfied. The legal basis or “threshold criteria” is detailed in the Children Act 1989 
and sets out the process by which a Family Court can make a Care or Supervision 
Order to a designated LA in respect of a particular child.

According to Working Together, significant harm refers to “the threshold that justifies 
compulsory intervention in family life in the best interests of children, and gives LAs a 
duty to make enquiries to decide whether they should take action to safeguard or 
promote the welfare of a child who is suffering or likely to suffer significant harm”.

The Children Act 1989 defines ‘harm’ as “ill-treatment or the impairment of health or 
development”. ‘Development’ means physical, intellectual, emotional, social or 
behavioral development; ‘health’ means physical or mental health; and ‘ill-treatment’ 
includes sexual abuse and forms of ill-treatment which are not physical. As a result 
of the Adoption and Children Act 2002, the definition of harm also includes 
“impairment suffered by hearing or seeing the ill-treatment of another”.

In terms of child sexual exploitation the threshold could be satisfied on the basis that 
the child is beyond parental control if for example they are continually absconding 
form the home and associating with adults or pose a risk and the parent is not aware 
of their whereabouts or unable to safeguard and protect them for the risks.

All matters are now referred to the Admission to Care Panel. The panel is constituted 
by Social Services management. If a social worker has concerns about the safety of 
a child/ren and or seeks to accommodate them in Local Authority care or seeks 
permission to issue court proceedings will be considered by the Panel. Legal 
services no longer sit on the Panel.

Legal Services has not received many cases for advice where CSE has been a 
factor. In practice, CSE has tended to be one factor amongst others i.e. neglect; 
substance abuse within the family.

Where CSE is the main factor an alternative order as opposed to a Care order may 
need to be sought as such an order alone may not sufficiently safeguard the child as 
there is a likelihood that they may abscond from their foster placement. Therefore 
the Local Authority would seek instructions from the client department about whether 
it is appropriate to apply for a Secure Accommodation Order. The decision to apply 
to restrict the liberty of children /young person is considered to be a serious step 
which must be taken only when there is no genuine alternative which would be 
appropriate to adequately safeguard the child/young person in the circumstances.

Page 55



The Local Authority is often reluctant to seek such orders unless there is no choice 
as it is quite draconian and may not resolve the concerns as whilst the order is in 
place, normally a minimum of 3 months and the child is removed from the area once 
the order has expired the child often returns to the area in which she/he lived 
previously.

Local authorities and police forces have a range of civil and criminal remedies and 
powers to act as a deterrent to dissuade and disrupt the abusive and exploitative 
practices of the perpetrators. 

Birmingham City Council applied successfully to the Court in 2014 for an injunction 
against men to prevent them having contact with a child or approaching in public 
places or having in their vehicle any other females under the age of 18 years with 
whom they are not previously associated.

The use of injunctive orders should be seen, therefore, as an essential piece of the 
jigsaw. They enable both the immediate protection of the child from the person 
involved in CSE they should.

However, there is a risk to the authority of possible damages for failed application to 
the Court for an injunction. In a situation where an individual is named there will be 
added pressure to be able to secure a conviction and/or succeed in a substantive 
civil claim after the injunction is granted. The police concluded that in the 
Birmingham case there was insufficient evidence to secure criminal convictions 
against the ten men, but the Council decided to apply for civil injunctions under the 
inherent jurisdiction to prevent the men from contacting the young person.

The Local Government Association has called for the introduction of ‘disruption 
orders’, a new type of banning order aimed at stopping predatory men suspected of 
grooming children for sex.

The LGA said the new orders would “give social workers and police a way of 
intervening in child sexual exploitation when they suspect something is going on but 
cannot provide evidence to bring a criminal prosecution without a child having been 
already harmed”.

Page 56



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Appendix 2 Executive response: Scrutiny Review of Child Sexual Exploitation

Recommendation 1. The Head of Safeguarding to produce a six monthly newsletter on 
safeguarding matters for all Wolverhampton Councillors.

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted Dawn Williams, Head of 
Safeguarding, City of 
Wolverhampton Council

Recommendation 2. The Head of Safeguarding to ensure that the Wolverhampton 
Safeguarding Children Board Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy is updated to incorporate 
specific reference to the Board’s commitment to the aims and objectives detailed in the West 
Midlands Regional Child Sexual Exploitation Framework (July 2015).

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted Dawn Williams, Head of 
Safeguarding, City of 
Wolverhampton Council

Recommendation 3. The members of the CSE scrutiny review group to reconvene in October 
2016 to consider progress in implementing recommendations agreed by Cabinet. The findings 
to be added as an appendix to the update report when presented to Scrutiny Board on 1.11.16.

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Page 57



Accepted A meeting to be arranged in 
October to review progress.

Earl Piggott-Smith, Scrutiny 
Officer, City of Wolverhampton 
Council

Recommendation 4. The Chair of the Councillor Development and IT Advisory Group to 
contact all elected Councillors reminding them of their safeguarding responsibilities and the 
expectation that they will complete mandatory safeguarding courses. 

The level of Councillor non-attendance on e-learning safeguarding courses to be monitored by 
Future People Manager and reported six monthly to Councillor Development and IT Advisory 
Group.  

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted - Completed Email sent to all Councillors 
on 9 March 2016 on behalf 
of the Chair of the Councillor 
Development and IT 
Advisory Group to check 
their learning records and, if 
they haven’t already done 
so, to complete the relevant 
mandatory training on the 
Learning.

Cllr Val Evans ,Chair of the 
Councillor Development and IT 
Advisory Group, City of 
Wolverhampton Council

Recommendation 5. The Future People Manager in liaison with the relevant subject matter 
experts to undertake a review of the effectiveness of mandatory e-learning training course for 
Councillors to ensure that they meet their responsibilities. The findings to be presented to the 
Councillor Development and IT Advisory Group with recommendations.

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted Meeting planned on 11 April 
2016 to discuss this work. 
Outcome to be taken to next 
Cllr Development and IT 
Advisory Group in June 
2016.

Jodie McConnell (Future 
People Manager)/Sandra 
Ashton Jones (Safeguarding 
Manager - Adults)
Gillian Ming (WSCB Manager)

Recommendation 6. Priority Lead – Communicate and Engage (WSCB) to detail proposals for 
further awareness raising in relation to the issue of CSE. The Priority Lead, Communicate and 
Engage, to detail plans for raising awareness of the issue among new communities who have 
moved to Wolverhampton and report findings to WSCB.

Page 58



Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted September 2016 Stephen Dodd, Priority Lead – 
Communicate and Engage 
(WSCB)

Recommendation 7. Wolverhampton representatives of organisations involved in the drafting 
of the West Midlands Metropolitan CSE Regional Framework (July 2015) to report annually to 
their respective boards on progress in embedding agreed processes within their policies and 
practices. Alan Coe to monitor and report progress to a future meeting of WSCB.

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted Alan Coe, Chair of WSCB

Recommendation 8. Be Safe – Junior Safeguarding Board to be invited to comment on the 
effectiveness of  policies aimed at  protecting children and young people from the risk of CSE  
and report their findings to a meeting of WSCB.

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted September 2016 Stephen Dodd, Priority Lead – 
Communicate and Engage 
(WSC)

Recommendation 9. The Head of Safeguarding to review and update the following documents:

 Wolverhampton Response to Independent Inquiry into child sexual exploitation in 
Rotherham and Safeguarding Adults;

 Children and Young People - Guidance notes for Councillors 2015. 

The Head of Safeguarding to send updated documents to all Councillors.

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Page 59



Accepted Dawn Williams, Head of 
Safeguarding, City of 
Wolverhampton Council

Recommendation 10. The Head of Safeguarding to share a copy of Tackling child sexual 
exploitation – A resource pack for councils with all Councillors at the start of the municipal year. 
The document to be published prominently on City of Wolverhampton Council's Learning Hub 
for Councillors and the Council website.

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted Dawn Williams, Head of 
Safeguarding, City of 
Wolverhampton Council

Recommendation 11. Head of Safeguarding to brief all Councillors in advance of Safeguarding 
Week 2016 events.

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted Dawn Williams, Head of 
Safeguarding, City of 
Wolverhampton Council

Recommendation 12. Lesley Writtle, Director of Operations, Black Country Partnership 
Foundation Trust, to be invited to lead on a review of gaps in counselling support services in 
Wolverhampton aimed at meeting the needs of children and young people who have either 
been sexually exploited or considered to be at risk. The report to investigate evidence 
suggesting under reporting of victims of sexual exploitation from black and minority ethnic 
communities and young boys. The findings to be reported to WSCB.

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Page 60



Accepted Lesley Writtle, Director of 
Operations, Black Country 
Partnership Foundation Trust

Recommendation 13. Head of Safeguarding, to present annual report to Cabinet and other 
groups, as appropriate, on the impact of the work done during the previous 12 months to reduce 
the risk of children and young people becoming victims of CSE and also supporting existing 
victims of CSE and their families.  

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted Dawn Williams, Head of 
Safeguarding, City of 
Wolverhampton Council

Recommendation 14. Director of Education to review school Governor training provision to 
ensure maximum attendance at safeguarding training sessions. The findings to be reported to 
Cabinet Member for Education.  

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted School Workforce Team 
have contacted other 
training providers to 
establish a baseline of what 
is delivered and accessed: 
currently whilst 55% of all 
schools have accessed 
safeguarding training for 
Governors, just 30% of all 
governors have attended 
training.  We will look to 
increase this through a 
variety of campaigns.

A safeguarding session has 
been delivered to all Chairs 
and Local Authority 
Governors who attend forum 
– about 44 were present.

Safeguarding Officer for 

Emma Balchin, School 
Workforce Manager, City of 
Wolverhampton Council

Page 61



Education has delivered 
three sessions to individual 
governing boards. 

As part of induction for all 
new governors a 
safeguarding session is run 
every term.

Training is advertised in the 
weekly school bulletin and 
monthly Governor 
Newsletters.  

In addition the service 
provides access to online 
training for governors who 
cannot attend face to face 
sessions. The number of 
governors accessing the 
safeguarding modules will 
be tracked and reported 
back on a termly basis.

Progress report due July 
2016

Recommendation 15. Safeguarding Officer for Education to contact nominated Safeguarding 
Link governors, to discuss ideas that could help improve attendance at safeguarding training 
sessions. Safeguarding Officer for Education to monitor and report attendance on governor 
safeguarding training sessions quarterly to Head Teacher’s Safeguarding Committee

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted The next Head Teacher’s 
Safeguarding Committee 
meeting is due to take place 
on 22 March 2016.

The Safeguarding Officer for 
Education attended the 
Wolverhampton 
Headteachers’ Safeguarding 
Meeting on 22 March 2016. 

The group were briefed on 
the number of governor 
training sessions and asked 
for suggestions to improve 
governor uptake of training. 
No immediate solutions 
were offered, but members 
agreed to look at the issue 

Denise Mooney, School 
Safeguarding Officer, City of 
Wolverhampton Council

Page 62



and share ideas.

 Recommendation 16. People Directorate, Commissioning Leads to present a progress report 
to the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People within 12 months on the impact of the 
changes aimed at strengthening commissioning policies, procedures and on-going support to 
better protect children and young people from the risk of sexual abuse or exploitation.

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted Suspension policy for new 
business in place

Jan 2016 - Escalation Policy 
(for existing commissioned 
contract) drafted and sent 
for consultation

April 2016 – Policy goes for 
approval to CYP 
management team

June 2016 – Policy to be  
added to policy and 
procedures

Progress report to the 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young People 
– March 2017

Kush Patel,
Strategic Improvement 
Development Officer – Early 
Help Children’s Commissioning 
and Safeguarding Service, City 
of Wolverhampton Council

Recommendation 17. Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and Black 
Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust to be invited to review the range of support 
available to the victims of CSE and their families, in particularly in terms of professional mental 
health support services available to both young victims and perpetrators in the community. The 
report to comment on the impact of raised awareness about CSE among adults who were 
previously victims of CSE during their childhood and the support services available to meet their 
needs. A progress report to be presented to the WSCB.

Page 63



Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted September 2016 Manjeet Garcha - Executive 
Director of Nursing 
Wolverhampton CCG/Lesley 
Writtle, Director of Operations 
and Tabatha Darmon ,Head of 
Safeguarding, Black Country 
Partnership NHS Foundation 
Trust

Recommendation 18. Wolverhampton CCG to report of the impact of safeguarding training for 
GP’s and other health professionals to WSCB. The report to include details of the number of 
referrals received from health professionals about safeguarding concerns, in particular issues 
relating to CSE.

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted Dr Claire Thomas - three 
further Level 3 training 
sessions are planned for this 
year. The sessions will 
include CSE , as well as two
additional bespoke CSE 
training sessions which we 
have commissioned from an 
external expert speaker in 
the subject.

December 2016

Lead - Manjeet Garcha - 
Executive Director of Nursing 
WCCG, Claire Thomas 
designated doctor for 
safeguarding children WCCG, 
Lorraine Millard designated 
Senior Nurse safeguarding 
children WCCG and Helen 
Doggett Named GP for 
safeguarding children WCCG.

Recommendation 19. Priority Lead – Communicate and Engage (WSCB) to report on progress 
in compiling a comprehensive picture of faith groups and unregistered schools in 
Wolverhampton and the extent to which they are meeting their safeguarding responsibilities. 
The findings to be reported at a meeting of the WSCB.

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Page 64



Accepted September 2016 Stephen Dodd, Priority Lead – 
Communicate and Engage 
(WSC)

Recommendation 20. Licensing Committee to consider suggestions from the review to further 
support work being done to encourage licensed taxi carriages and private hire vehicles 
operating within Wolverhampton to report safeguarding concerns.

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted/Rejected Chair of Licensing Committee, 
City of Wolverhampton Council

Recommendation 21. WSCB to review progress and challenge as appropriate against the 12 
Local Standards – See Me, Hear Me Framework (http://www.seeme-hearme.org.uk/). The 
findings to be published in WSCB annual report.

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted Alan Coe, Chair, WSCB

Recommendation 22. WSCB Business Priority Lead; Sexual Exploitation Missing & Trafficked 
(SEMT) Committee, to report to WSCB impact of planned changes and to review the extent to 
which available resources are being used to best effect when considering the scale and extent 
of CSE in Wolverhampton.

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted DCI Michaela Kerr
Public Protection Unit: Walsall 
and Wolverhampton Child and 
Domestic Abuse - West Midlands 
Police 

Recommendation 23. WSCB Business Priority Lead; Sexual Exploitation Missing & Trafficked 
(SEMT) Committee, to offer WSCB and local Councillors reassurance that any changes in the 

Page 65



allocation of policing resources will not affect the capacity of the service to work individually and 
collectively to effectively disrupt and prosecute alleged offenders and also meet the needs of 
victims and their families.

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted DCI Michaela Kerr,
Public Protection Unit: Walsall 
and Wolverhampton Child and 
Domestic Abuse - West Midlands 
Police

Recommendation 24. WSCB Business Priority Lead; Sexual Exploitation Missing & Trafficked 
(SEMT) Committee to collate responses on the use and impact of new civil and criminal powers 
to safeguard children at risk and also children and young people considered to be at increased 
risk of harm across the region to WSCB.

Comment Timescale/progress 
so far

Lead 
Officer/Organisation

Accepted DCI Michaela Kerr,
Public Protection Unit: Walsall 
and Wolverhampton Child and 
Domestic Abuse - West Midlands 
Police

Version 18 – 11.4.16

Page 66



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet Meeting
20 April 2016

Report title Transportation Capital Programme – 2016/17 
and future years

Decision designation AMBER
Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Peter Bilson, City Assets
Councillor Steve Evans, City Environment

Key decision Yes

In forward plan Yes

Wards affected All

Accountable director Ross Cook, City Environment

Originating service Transportation

Accountable employee(s) Gwyn James
Tel
Email

Bob Willis
Tel
Email

Head of Strategic Transportation
01902 555755
Gwyn.james@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Head of Operational Transportation
01902 555790
Bob.willis@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Transport and Highways Board
Place Leadership Team
Strategic Executive Board

8 March 2016
29 March 2016
5 April 2016

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Agree the list of projects for development and implementation as part of the 
Transportation Capital Programme 2016/17 and future years, as set out in appendices B 
and C.

2. Authorise the Head of Strategic Transportation and the Head of Operational 
Transportation to proceed with development work for each project on the list including 
surveying, site investigation, options appraisal, feasibility analysis, traffic modelling, 
detailed design, statutory advertising and public consultation, as appropriate.

Page 67

Agenda Item No: 7

mailto:Gwyn.james@wolverhampton.gov.uk
mailto:Bob.willis@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3. Approve the projects marked ‘Approve’ in the ‘Approval’ column of appendices B and C 
for implementation, subject to the availability of funding.

4. Authorise the Cabinet Member for City Assets or the Cabinet member for City 
Environment, as appropriate, in consultation with the Service Director, City Environment 
to approve, through an Individual Executive Decision Notice, implementation of the 
projects on the list marked ‘IEDN’ in the ‘Approval’ column of appendix B, subject to the 
satisfactory outcome of public consultation, availability of funding and any other relevant 
considerations.

5. Authorise the Cabinet Member for City Assets or the Cabinet member for City 
Environment, as appropriate, in consultation with the Service Director, City Environment 
to approve, through an Individual Executive Decision Notice, the bringing forward of 
projects from appendix C to appendix B and thereafter to approve them for 
implementation during 2016/17 subject to the satisfactory outcome of public consultation, 
availability of funding and any other relevant considerations.

6. Agree to receive further reports at the appropriate times in order to obtain the necessary 
authority to construct the projects marked ‘Cabinet’ in the ‘Approval’ column of appendix 
B.

7. Authorise the Director of Governance to serve all necessary notices in respect of the 
projects listed in appendix B and, subject to there being no unresolved objections, make 
traffic regulation orders as required.

8. Approve the revised medium term Transportation capital programme at appendix D, 
reflecting six budget virements and the deferral of £1.5 million expenditure from 2015/16 
to 2016/17 in relation to recent funding confirmation of Local Pinch Point Funding for 
work at the junction of A4123 Birmingham New Road / Shaw Road.

Recommendations for noting:

The Cabinet is asked to note:

1. The expenditure and progress made in delivering the projects in the Transportation 
Capital Programme during 2015/16.

2. The Council’s continuing success in bidding for additional funding and delivering new 
projects through the Local Sustainable Travel Fund, the Highway Maintenance Challenge 
Fund, the Local Pinch Point Fund, the Access to Growth Fund and the Managing Short 
Trips programme.

Page 68



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 To seek approval to a programme of capital funded projects to develop and maintain the 
transportation network for the financial years 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19, subject to 
available resources and annual review.  Cabinet is also asked to note the expenditure 
and progress made in delivering the projects in the Transportation Capital Programme 
during 2015/16, as set out in appendix A.

2.0 Background

2.1 The Council’s transportation capital programme includes separate allocations each year 
for the development of the highways network and for capital maintenance of the existing 
network. The programmes are predominantly funded by Central Government via annual 
grant allocations from the Department for Transport (DfT), known as the Integrated 
Transport Block Grant and the Highways Maintenance Block Grant. These grants are 
supplemented by Council prudential borrowing and third party funding secured through 
planning obligations or agreements through section 278 or section 38 of the Highways 
Act. 

2.2 In recent years the level of grant funding available to highway authorities via the annual 
block grants has been significantly reduced. At the same time there has been a 
corresponding increase in the funding available through competitive bidding processes, 
either directly from DfT (e.g. Local Pinch Point Fund, Local Sustainable Transport Fund, 
Highway Maintenance Challenge Fund) or via other organisations (e.g. Local Growth 
Fund, managed by the Black Country LEP). 

2.3 This report seeks approval to a list of projects for implementation during the financial year 
2016/17 and a further list of projects for which development work should be authorised 
with a view to implementation in future years. 

2.4 This approach recognises the need to develop a ‘pipeline’ of future projects by 
undertaking the initial work that might be necessary to get projects ‘shovel ready’. Such 
work might include traffic modelling, feasibility, site investigation, detailed design and 
public consultation, among other activities. This enables the programme to be flexible, 
dynamic and able to respond to changing circumstances in terms of funding availability; 
this is particularly the case in the current climate where transport governance and future 
funding arrangements are in the process of review.

2.5 This approach also allows better management of budgets with the ability to bring forward 
alternative projects to accommodate any slippage within the programme or to react to 
changed circumstances or new funding opportunities. This flexibility and ‘pipeline’ 
approach has allowed the Council to bid successfully for a number of major projects 
including at Birmingham New Road, Stafford Road, Bilston Urban Village and the city 
centre where the ability to begin construction quickly has been a requirement of the 
funding provider. In this way the Council has secured more than £55 million in additional 
external funding for transport projects in Wolverhampton, in the last three years.

Page 69



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

2.6 The priority given to each scheme will depend on a number of factors including the 
results of public consultation, liaison with the Cabinet Member, ward councillors, accident 
records, highway condition survey data, etc.  There will also be progress reports 
submitted to councillors at least annually to provide an update on the work completed; 
review the priorities for future work; add further projects to the List of Projects for 
Development; and seek the necessary approvals for the development and delivery of 
projects as required. 

2.7 The programme has been developed to take account of a number of ‘key transport 
priorities’ for the City of Wolverhampton that have been developed in conjunction with the 
Council’s regional partners to support the regeneration of the city and the wider 
Combined Authority agenda. These include the Stafford Road and Willenhall Road 
corridors; improvements to the ring road; further development of the city’s cycle network; 
and enhancing the public realm in the city centre.

2.8 The Interchange project is now well under way and includes redevelopment of the railway 
station and extension of Midland Metro to the station. The project is being delivered with 
external partners (Centro, for example, are delivering the Metro extension) and falls 
outside the Transportation Capital Programme but it remains a key transport priority for 
the city.

2.9 The projects undertaken during 2015/16, and the expenditure on each during the year, 
are set out in the table at appendix A. Councillors are requested to note the successful 
delivery of the Transportation Capital Programme this year.

2.10 The proposed projects that form the Transportation Capital Programme for 2016/17 are 
set out in appendix B, while the projects for development for future years are set out in 
appendix C.  The estimated cost of each scheme is indicated, although costs will be 
refined as each scheme progresses through the feasibility/design/consultation process. 
There is an intentional ‘over-programming’ of projects for the year to reflect the reality 
that some projects will inevitably be delayed due to unexpected circumstances or 
changes to priorities. The various work programmes, and the individual projects which 
make up those programmes, will be managed within the available resources each 
financial year and in accordance with the Authority’s developing priorities. 

3.0 Proposed delivery programme

3.1 The right hand column in appendix B indicates the approval status of each scheme in the 
programme. 

 Projects marked ‘Approve’ indicates that Cabinet is requested to approve the 
project for implementation (or to confirm approval in the case of projects that were 
previously approved); this category typically applies to projects where a separate 
consultation with local residents/businesses is not required because they do not 
involve any significant change to the network. 

 Projects marked ‘IEDN’ are generally those which require a public consultation 
exercise to be undertaken before the design can be finalised and therefore this 
report seeks delegated authority to the Cabinet Member for City Assets (or City 

Page 70



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Environment, as appropriate) in consultation with the Service Director, City 
Environment to approve implementation through an Individual Executive Decision 
Notice.

 Projects marked ‘Cabinet’ are those for which a separate report is intended to be 
brought to Cabinet at the appropriate time, seeking approval to implement the 
project. These are generally projects with a high value (in excess of £1 million) or 
a high public profile.

3.2 Cabinet is requested to approve the projects in appendix C for development in 
anticipation of them being implemented in future years. ‘Development’ may include 
surveying, site investigation, options appraisal, feasibility analysis, traffic modelling, 
detailed design, statutory advertising and public consultation, among other activities. 
Approval is also requested to delegate authority, by means of an IEDN, for projects in 
appendix C to be brought forward into 2016/17 if necessary to respond to changes in 
priorities and provide the necessary flexibility in the programme.

3.3 Delivery of the programme will be achieved using a combination of the Council’s own 
employees and external contractors, procured through a combination of tendered 
contracts and utilisation of suitable framework agreements available to the Council. The 
selection of framework and contractor will be determined for each individual scheme 
based on various criteria including price, value for money, contractor capability and the 
availability of resources.

3.4 Employees will seek to deliver the programme in the most cost effective way and 
minimise the impact on communities and highway users by, wherever possible, co-
ordinating maintenance projects with those for developing and improving the highway 
network. 

3.5 The programme contains nine separate components of which five relate to network 
development and four are capital maintenance. These are as follows: 

(i) Network Development

3.6 Local Growth Fund. The programme includes a number of major projects funded (or 
intended to be funded) through the Local Growth Fund’s ‘Access to Growth’ and 
‘Managing Short Trips’ packages. These projects aim to unlock growth and development 
through investment in transport infrastructure.

3.7 Highway Improvement Programme. This category includes projects that will have a 
significant impact on the network in reducing congestion and improving access to 
regeneration and development sites, thereby helping to encourage economic growth. 
Such projects tend to be medium to large in scale and significant in both cost and benefit 
terms. They are funded primarily through the IT Block grant, supplemented in some 
cases by developers’ contributions or individual project grants direct from DfT.

3.8 Local Safety Programme. This programme has been a major contributory factor in the 
reduced number and severity of road traffic personal injury accidents in Wolverhampton. 
The programme is developed using a prioritisation process in which each location is 
assessed on a range of factors including accident history, traffic flow, vehicle speeds and 

Page 71



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

community surroundings. Potential projects are included in the programme based on 
issues that have been identified, often by local residents and businesses, as traffic 
management or road safety concerns. However the list of projects requested is extensive 
and the prioritisation process means that some locations may remain on the list for many 
years.

3.9 Cycling Programme. This is a programme of minor projects to assist cyclists and 
promote cycling. Many of the projects are identified through liaison with local cycling 
groups and the City Council’s Cycle Forum and all accord with the adopted Cycle 
Strategy. 

3.10 Safer Routes to Schools Programme. This programme contains projects which are 
developed in conjunction with schools with the aim of tackling road safety concerns, 
reducing traffic congestion, improving air quality, and localised on-street parking 
problems.  The programme contributes to the Council’s objectives in relation to tackling 
child obesity and improved fitness by encouraging children to walk and cycle to school 
rather than being driven to school.

(ii) Capital Maintenance

3.11 Capital Maintenance of Classified Roads. This programme involves reconstruction and 
resurfacing of classified (A, B and C class) roads and is funded primarily from the 
Highway Capital Maintenance Block Grant for highways. The priority given to each 
scheme will depend on a number of factors including condition survey data, maintenance 
records, visual inspections, customer complaints and ward councillor requests. The 
approach accords with the Council’s Highway Asset Management Plan. The programme 
will be managed within the available resources each financial year and in accordance 
with developing priorities. 

3.12 Capital Maintenance of Unclassified Roads. This programme covers the ‘minor’ roads 
in the network and includes both carriageway and footway resurfacing. As with classified 
roads, the projects to be implemented each year will depend on the availability of funding 
and the relative priority of each scheme. Included within the programme are a number of 
projects for re-paving worn out footways and pedestrian areas within the city centre core 
retail area, such as Dudley Street, Lichfield Street and Victoria Street. These projects will 
build on the work already undertaken to enhance the city centre public realm and make 
the retail core a more attractive, vibrant place for shoppers and visitors.

3.13 Highway Structures. The Council is responsible for approximately 120 bridges, subway, 
footbridges and retaining walls, which are inspected on a two year cycle. Defects 
identified are then programmed to be dealt with, where practical, from this budget. Larger 
projects such as bridge strengthening or replacement will usually require separate 
funding and will involve applying for specific government grants.

3.14 Other Programmes. The Disabled Access programme is a package of measures to 
improve the accessibility of our footway network for users with physical or sensory 
disabilities. The Street Lighting Replacement Programme is developed using the 
established street lighting prioritisation process for replacing worn out columns and 
upgrading to new energy efficient lighting. Non-highway Structures relates to 

Page 72



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

maintenance work on bridges that are within the Council’s ownership and therefore not 
funded from Transportation budgets but the work is nevertheless managed through the 
Transportation Capital Programme.

3.15 The programme for capital maintenance of classified roads has received a substantial 
boost from the Highway Maintenance Challenge Fund. Wolverhampton submitted a 
successful joint bid to DfT with the other Black Country authorities for the ‘West Midlands 
Classified Network Renewal Project’. Wolverhampton’s share of the award is £5,869,267 
spread over a three year period, 2015/16 to 2017/18, with the bulk of the money being 
available in years 2 and 3. The money is in addition to the Highway Capital Maintenance 
Block grant and will allow the Council to make significant progress in addressing the 
backlog of highway maintenance work on the classified road network.

3.16 The capital expenditure on the reconstruction and resurfacing of roads and footways, as 
part of a planned Asset Management programme, has the effect of reducing the need for 
reactive maintenance and hence the pressure on the Council’s revenue budget for 
maintaining the highway network. It has also been shown to reduce the number (and 
cost) of insurance claims against the Council.

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 The Capital Programme 2015/16 to 2019/20 quarter three review and 2016/17 to 
2020/21 budget strategy was approved by Council on 3 March 2016.  The Transportation 
capital programme (Network Development programme and Capital Maintenance 
programme) is made up of a series of individual projects and programmes of works 
totalling £51.5 million over the period of 2015/16 to 2019/20. This is within the Place 
directorate across two service areas, £27.0 million within City Assets and £24.5 million 
within City Environment. 

4.2 These budgets are funded from a range of sources including Prudential Borrowing, DfT 
Integrated Transport and Highways Capital Maintenance block grants, section 278 / 
section 38 funding as well as DfT grants for individual major projects.  DfT Integrated 
Transport allocations available for use across the workstreams are held within the 
Integrated Transport workstream until projects are developed against this and the other 
workstreams.  Similarly DfT Highways Capital Maintenance block allocations are held 
against the Maintenance of classified roads workstream until projects are developed 
against this and the other workstreams.

4.3 The Council’s internal resources are used on a number of development projects either as 
match funding or in relation to the inclusion of ‘spend to save’ investment work 
programmes. The programme is predominately funded from DfT grant, developer 
contributions and other external grants.  

4.4 This report focuses on development projects across the three year period 2016/17 to 
2018/19 and the anticipated outturn for 2015/16. A revised transportation capital 
programme is detailed at appendix D for which approval is sought from this meeting. 

4.5 Proposed changes reflect the allocation of Integrated Transport and Highway Capital 
Maintenance grants to individual workstreams and have a net nil impact on the budget 

Page 73



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

overall. The change in 2015/16 budget reflects the deferral of expenditure into 2016/17 of 
£1.5 million due to recent funding confirmation of Local Pinch Point Funding to facilitate 
works to upgrade the junction on the A4123 Birmingham New Road / Shaw Road.

 4.6 Appendix A provides the latest forecast for 2015/16 indicating a total outturn of £10.4 
million against the £12.6 million proposed budget, noting that it is anticipated the majority 
of potential slippage is against major schemes, while DfT annual Integrated Transport 
and Highways Capital Maintenance grants are fully utilised.  The details of the final 
outturn position, along with the associated slippage will be finalised and reported to 
Councillors as part of the Capital programme Outturn 2015/16 and Quarter one 2016/17 
report.  

4.7 The proposed package of projects shown in the table at appendices B and C will be 
developed and managed within the resources available and developed over the period 
2016/17 to 2018/19. Cost estimates are likely to be refined as projects are developed to 
produce a detailed design, including other costs such as service diversions.
[TT/11042016/B]

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 Under section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 the Council, as the highway authority, is 
under a duty to maintain public highways.

5.2 Highway works will be undertaken using the term framework contractors available to the 
Council, with the selection of contractor to be based upon value for money and 
availability of resources. 

5.3 Where appropriate, legal advice will be obtained in respect of the various projects as and 
when they become operational in respect of matters arising under the Highways Act 
1980, the Town and Country Planning Acts and other relevant legislation.
[TS/06042016/H]

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 Equalities assessments will be undertaken for projects and programmes as appropriate 
and in accordance with City Council policies and agreed protocols. Full and detailed 
consultation will be undertaken before projects are commenced and in the event of 
objections being received, these will be taken into consideration and the scheme 
modified if appropriate.

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 The work programmes set out in this report generally have environmental benefits. Many 
of the Network Development projects are aimed at reducing congestion and hence air 
pollution. Other projects will improve environmental safety for highway users. The 
‘carbon footprint’ associated with carrying out this work is considered to be offset by the 
benefits that will be achieved.

Page 74



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 The delivery of the programme as proposed will fully commit the existing employee 
resources available to support the Transportation Capital Programme.

9.0 Corporate landlord implications

9.1 The programme includes a line for ‘Non highway structures’ which relates to 
strengthening and maintenance of structures owned by the Council but not part of the 
adopted highway. The structures (bridges and/or retaining walls) form part of the 
Corporate Landlord portfolio but the work will be managed by employees within the 
Strategic Transportation Service and, for convenience, is included within the 
Transportation Capital Programme.

10.0 Schedule of background papers

10.1 Report to Cabinet, 11 March 2015, “Transportation Capital Programme – 2015/16 and 
future years”.

Page 75



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

APPENDIX A
Projects undertaken during 2015/16

Programme/Scheme Title Ward Spend 2015/16
£000’s

Wolverhampton & West Midlands Major Projects
Wolverhampton Interchange (highway improvements) St Peter’s 128
i54 Access N/A 1,092
UTC Major Scheme Various 9
West Midlands Red Route Package N/A 8
Local Sustainable Transport Fund Various 159
City Centre Cycling Improvements St Peter’s 215
Access to Growth – Coach Link St Peter’s 480
National Cycle Network 81 route enhancements St Peter’s, Park, 

Tett Regis, Oxley 
330

Sub-total 2,421
Network Development
City Centre Transport and Movement Enhancements St Peter’s 2,239

Integrated Transport
Wobaston Road Corridor, LPPF Bushbury N/Oxley 310
UTC Wireless Telecommunications Various 60
Stafford Road Corridor improvements Various 95
Ring Road St Patrick’s St Peter’s 5
Raglan St Sainsburys s278 works St Peter’s 120
Birmingham New Road/Shaw Road Spring Vale 80
Black Country Route/Coseley Road Island Ettingshall/Bilston E 800
Compton Park access road and cycle route Park 505
Advance design of future projects Various 105

Sub-total 2,080
Local Safety Programme
Willenhall Road, Portobello East Park 13
Penn Road/Buttons Farm Road/Springhill Lane Penn 25
Larches Lane/Haden Hill one way 42
Wolverhampton Road/Rookery Street Heath Town/ 

Wednesfield South
57

Perton Road area Tettenhall 
Wightwick

57

Peel Street zebra crossing St Peter’s 15
Wednesfield Way Heath Town 5
Penn Road 30mph limit Penn 4
Linden Lea Tett Wightwick 12
Urgent Works/TRO’s/Signs/Guardrails/Markings Various 45

Sub-total 275
Cycling Programme
Cycle Route Improvements Various 56
Cycle Parking Various 5

Sub-total 61

Page 76



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Safer Routes to School
Finchfield Road West zebra crossing 21
School gate parking Various 12

Sub-total 33

Capital Maintenance
Capital Maintenance of Classified Roads
Oxley Moor Road Oxley 156
Tettenhall Road (Henwood Road junction) Tettenhall Regis 84
Compton Road West Park 147
Kempthorne Avenue Fallings park 339

Sub-total 387

Capital Maintenance of Unclassified Roads
Underhill Lane Fallings Park 25
The Square Ettingshall 27
Lawrence Avenue W’field South 104
Ireton Rd, Carisbrooke Rd, Carisbrooke Gdns, Elmcroft Gdns Bushbury North 246
Wheelers Fold St Peter’s 20
Old Heath Road East Park 39
Windmill Lane Tett Wightwick 53
Brooklands Parade and roads off East park 450
Darlington Street St Peter’s 120
Thin surface treatment Various 667

Sub-total 1,751

Highway Structures
Highway structures, strengthening and maintenance Various 334
Portobello subway closure East Park 35
The Avenue retaining wall Penn 450

Sub-total 819

Other Capital Maintenance Programmes
Disabled access Various 60
Street lighting replacements Various 250

Sub-total 310

Total 10,376

Page 77



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

APPENDIX B

Projects for Implementation in 2016/17

Key to ‘Approval’ column
Prior: Projects that have been previously approved for implementation
Approve: Cabinet is requested to approve these projects for implementation in this report
IEDN: Cabinet is requested to delegate authority to the Cabinet Member for City Assets (or City 

Environment, as appropriate) and the Service Director for City Environment to approve 
these projects for implementation following the consultation process

Cabinet: Projects for which a further Cabinet report will be submitted at the appropriate time
seeking approval to implement

Programme/Scheme Title Ward Estimate Approval
£000’s

Network Development Projects

LGF Access to Growth
Bilston Urban Village Access Bilston East 2,500 Prior
Bentley Lane (Walsall MBC) N/A 800 Prior
North Smethwick Canalside Access (Sandwell MBC) N/A 630 Prior
Springfield Campus to Interchange connectivity Heath Town 600 IEDN
Stafford Road Corridor/i54 Sprint modelling and 
scheme development

Bushbury Nth/Oxley/ 
Bushbury Sth & Low 
Hill/St Peter’s

270 Approve

Willenhall Road Corridor/Canalside modelling and 
scheme development

Heath Town, East 
Park

680 Approve

Pinfold Bridge, Wednesfield W’field South 800 IEDN

LGF Managing Short Trips
National Cycle Network 81 route enhancements St Peter’s, Park, Tett 

Regis, Oxley
401 IEDN

East Wolverhampton cycle links to Moseley Park 
and Willenhall Road

East Park, Bilston 
North

210 IEDN

City Centre and Ring Road cycling improvements St Peter’s 700 IEDN
i54 to Science Park cycle route Bushbury Sth & Low 

Hill, Bushbury North
500 IEDN

Highway Improvement Programme

Birmingham New Rd/Shaw Rd junction improvement Spring Vale 1,490 IEDN
Ring Road St John’s widening and pedestrian/cycle 
crossing

St Peter’s 370 Prior

UTC wireless communications Various 100 Prior
Sainsbury’s development highway improvements Graiseley 350 Prior
Bilston Town Centre HGV signage Bilston East, Bilston 

North
30 Prior

New Cross area parking management Heath Town 150 Prior
Advance design of future projects (rolling prog) Various 80 /year Approve
Bus infrastructure improvements (rolling 
programme)

Various 30 /year Approve

Traffic signs replacement (rolling programme) Various 30/year Approve

Page 78



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Roadworks information improvements All 10 Approve
Alfred Squire Road/Neachells Lane traffic signals 
upgrade

W’field South 80 Approve

Ring road and city centre signage review St Peter’s 80 Approve
Elgin CCTV application All 15 Approve
Common Database software upgrade All 25 Approve
Ring Road environmental and safety improvements Various 250 IEDN
Bus lane enforcement, Phase 3 Various 120 IEDN

Local Safety Programme
Penn Road/Manor Road speed limit reduction Penn 48 Prior
Urgent Works/ TRO’s/Signs/Guardrails/ Markings 
(rolling programme)

Various 50/year Approve

Great Hampton Street St Peter’s 15 Approve
Darlington Street pedestrian and cycle 
improvements

St Peter’s 25 Approve

Wolverhampton Road East crossing Blakenhall 70 IEDN
Rushall Road Bushbury North 25 IEDN
Linden Lea/The Spinney Tett Wightwick 30 IEDN
Malthouse Lane/Stockwell Road area Tett Regis 20 IEDN
High Street, Tettenhall (s106 funding) Tett Wightwick 20 IEDN
Wergs Road/Yew Tree Lane Tett Regis 10 IEDN
Stafford Road Five Ways island Bushbury Sth & Low 

Hill, St Peter’s
30 IEDN

Cycling Programme
Cycle Route Improvements (rolling programme) Various 30/year Approve
Cycle Parking (rolling programme) Various 10/year Approve

Safer Routes to Schools
School gate parking (rolling programme) Various 10 /year Approve
Castlecroft Road zebra crossing (between Bhylls 
Lane & The Avenue)

Tettenhall 
Wightwick/ Merry Hill

25 IEDN

Capital Maintenance Projects

Classified Roads
Bath Road (Chapel Ash to Ring Road) Park 105 IEDN
Bilston Road (Ring Road to Cullwick Street) Ettingshall/East Park 638 IEDN
Birmingham New Road (Black Country Route to 
Shaw Rd)

Spring Vale 193 IEDN

Black Country Route /Coseley Road roundabouts Ettingshall/Bilston 
East

138 IEDN

Bridgnorth Road (Finchfield Hill to Firsway) Tett Wightwick 369 IEDN
Bushbury Lane – Roundabout, Elston Hall Lane 156 IEDN
Bushbury Road/Church Street/Tudor Road Fallings Park/Heath 

Town
270 IEDN

Penn Road (Ring Road to Lonsdale Road) Graiseley/Blakenhall 202 IEDN
Ring Road St Andrews (Chapel Ash to Waterloo 
Road, northbound)

St Peter’s 105 IEDN

Ring Road St Peters (Waterloo Road to Stafford 
Street, eastbound)

St Peter’s 113 IEDN

Page 79



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Stafford Road –(Greenwood Road to Oxley Moor 
Road)

Bushbury Sth & Low 
Hill/St Peter’s

730 IEDN

Stafford Road (Bushbury Lane to Greenwood Road) Bushbury Sth & Low 
Hill/St Peter’s

381 IEDN

Waddensbrook Lane (Broad Lane South to 
Wednesfield Way)

W’field South 229 IEDN

Penn Road – Stubbs Road to Coalway Road Penn 66 IEDN
Warstones Road – Springhill Lane Junction Penn/Merry Hill 60 IEDN

Unclassified Roads - Carriageways
Thin surface treatment (rolling programme) Various 600/year Approve
High St, Wednesfield W’field South 60 IEDN
Trysull Rd/Oxbarn Avenue junction Merry Hill/Graiseley 40 IEDN
Prestwood Road West Fallings Park/Heath 

Town
134 IEDN

Little Brickkiln Street St Peter's 6 IEDN
Newhampton Road East/Park Avenue junction St Peter’s 29 IEDN
Ward Street Ettingshall 12 IEDN
Red Lion Street St Peter’s 53 IEDN

Unclassified Roads - Footways
Dudley Street St Peter’s 879 Cabinet
Bilston Street St Peter’s 160 Cabinet
Darlington Street St Peter’s 165 Cabinet
Lich Gates St Peter’s 120 Cabinet
Brooklands Parade and roads off East Park 582 Prior
Bushbury Lane (parts) Bushbury South & 

Low Hill
70 IEDN

Woodstock Road/Hurstbourne Cres and roads off East Park 140 IEDN
Baker Avenue Spring Vale 10 IEDN
Silverton Way/Coleman Avenue W’field South 20 IEDN

Highway Structures
Highway structures, strengthening and maintenance 
(rolling programme)

Various 100/year Approve

Hordern Road Bridge strengthening Tett Regis/Park/St 
Peter’s 60 IEDN

The Rock cutting Tett Regis/Tett 
Wightwick 20 IEDN

Compton Bridge resurfacing Tett Wightwick 25 IEDN
Tettenhall Road Bridge parapet repairs Tett Wightwick 120 IEDN
Arthur Street Bridge Bilston East 310 IEDN
Wightwick Bridge strengthening Tett Wightwick 30 IEDN

Other Capital Maintenance Programmes
Disabled Access (rolling programme) Various 60 /year Approve
Street lighting replacements (rolling programme) Various 350 /year Approve
Non highway structures Various 475 IEDN

Page 80



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

APPENDIX C

Projects for Development for Future Years

Programme/Scheme Title Ward Estimate
£000’s

Network Development Projects

LGF Access to Growth
Stafford Road M54 to Vine Island Bushbury North 6,000
Cannock Road/Cross Street North junction improvement Bushbury Sth & Low Hill/ 

Heath Town
2,000

Wolverhampton Science Park access Bushbury Sth & Low Hill 1,500

Highway Improvement Programme
City Centre wayfinding St Peter’s 60
Cannock Road/Raynor Road CCTV Bushbury Sth & Low Hill, 

Fallings Park
30

Birmingham New Rd/Lawnswood Av junction improvement Spring Vale/ Blakenhall 800
Ring Road/ Snow Hill traffic signals upgrade Blakenhall/St Peter’s/ 

Ettingshall
110

New Hampton Road/Hunter Street traffic signals upgrade Park/St Peter’s 80

Local Safety Programme
Lunt Road Bilston East 60
Penn Road/Marston Road junction Graiseley/Blakenhall 90
Amos Lane W’field South/ Heath 

Town
20

Stafford Road/Oxley Moor Road junction Oxley 60
Third Avenue/Raynor Road Bushbury Sth & Low Hill 30
Northycote Lane Bushbury North 150
Safety cameras upgrade Various 85
Henwood Road Tett Wightwick 30
Pendeford Avenue Tett Regis 7
Spring Road/Manor Road Ettingshall/Spring Vale 10
Kitchen Lane W’field North 40
Richmond Road Park 10
Patshull Avenue Bushbury North 40
White Oak Drive Tett Wightwick 40
Mill Lane Fallings Park 30
Lonsdale Road Graiseley 15
Long Knowle Lane Fallings Park 10
Wood Road Tett Wightwick 20
Goldthorn Avenue/Westbourne Road Penn 25
Woden Road Heath Town 20
Greenfield Lane Bushbury North 20
Legs Lane Bushbury North 20
Hilton Road area signed only 20mph zone Spring Vale 20

Cycling Programme
Wednesfield Way Wednesfield South 100

Page 81



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Safer Routes to Schools
Bushbury Lane/Collingwood Road Bushbury North 25
Griffiths Drive/Peacock Avenue W’field North 22
The Lunt/Holy Trinity Bilston East 40
Ripon Road Bushbury Sth & Low Hill 50
Walter Road Bilston East 30
Bradley Lane Bilston East 15

Capital Maintenance Projects

Classified Roads
Anchor Road/ Biddings Lane/Shaw Road Bilston East 170
Birches Barn Road Graiseley 254
Birmingham New Road (Parkfield Rd to Spring Rd) Spring Vale/ Blakenhall 785
Black Country Route (Coseley Road to Oxford Street, 
eastbound) Ettingshall/Bilston East 447

Blackhalve Lane Fallings Park 175
Broad Lane Park/Merry Hill 212
Cannock Road (Park Lane to Blackhalve Lane) Fallings Park 249
Chapel Ash Park/Graiseley 122
Coalway Road Graiseley/Penn/Merry Hill 584
Henwood Road (Service Road) Tett Wightwick 14
High Street, Wednesfield (Alfred Squire Road To Well 
Lane) W’field South 43

Lower Street (Aldersley Road to Tettenhall Road) Tett Regis 82
Millfields Road (Coseley Rd to Village Way) Ettingshall 124
Mount Pleasant Bilston East 172
Ring Road footways St Peter’s 708
Rookery Street/Wolverhampton Road Heath Town/W’field South 249
Springhill Lane Merry Hill/Penn 63
Stafford Road (Vine Island to M54) Bushbury North 527
Stafford Street (Cannock Rd to Ring Road, Inbound) Heath Town 123
Stowheath Lane (part) East Park 73
Tettenhall Road Park 550
Willenhall Road, Bilston Bilston North/Bilston East 191
Wobaston Road Bushbury North/ Oxley 217

Unclassified Roads - Carriageways
Fern Leys Tett Wightwick 6
Merridale St West Graiseley 72
Hilton Street Heath Town 54
Highfields Road, Bilston Bilston East 85
Moseley Rd (part) Bilston North 25
Dunstall Road (part) St Peter’s 165
The Crescent Bilston East 28
Barnhurst Lane/Pendeford Avenue Oxley/Tett Regis 426
Broad Lanes Bilston East 174
Bushbury Lane (Elston Hall Lane to Legs Lane) Bushbury North 396
Hordern Road St Peter’s/Park 332
Hunter Street St Peter’s/Park 32
Kitchen Lane W’field North 279
Northycote Lane/Legs Lane/Underhill Lane Bushbury North/ Fallings 649

Page 82



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Park

Old Fallings Lane (Cannock Road to Ruskin Road) Bushbury Sth & Low Hill/ 
Fallings Park 226

Vicarage Road Penn 178
Brooklands Parade East Park 85
Woodstock Road East Park 33
Laburnum Road (part) East Park 22
Mountford Lane Bilston North 69
Waterhead Drive highway drainage Fallings Park 30
Thornley Street St Peter’s 25
Westbury Street St Peter’s 25
Waterloo Road St Peter’s/Park 320
Ranelagh Road Blakenhall 15

Unclassified Roads - Footways
Queen Square St Peter’s 310
Exchange Street St Peter’s 141
Victoria Street St Peter’s 506
Wenlock Avenue/Minsterley Close Merry Hill 52
Ruskin Road Fallings Park 162
Pinfold Lane Penn 280
Finchdene Grove Tett Wightwick 38
Planetary Road (part) W’field South 70
Woodhouse Road, Tettenhall (part) Tett Regis 27
Braden Road Penn 201
Rosemary Avenue Blakenhall 30
Spondon Road Wednesfield North 32

Highway Structures
Barnhurst Lane Bridge strengthening Tett Regis/Oxley 500

Page 83



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

APPENDIX D

Revised medium term Transportation capital programme 2015/16 to 2018/19

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Total 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Total 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

City Assets – Network Development
Major Schemes
-  i54 Access and Infrastructure 1,865 75 50 0 1,990 1,865 75 50 0 1,990 0 0 0 0 0
-  i54 Travel Plan 30 150 537 0 717 30 150 537 0 717 0 0 0 0 0
-  West Midlands Red Routes Package 1 21 0 0 0 21 21 0 0 0 21 0 0 0 0 0
-  Local Sustainable Transport Fund 332 0 0 0 332 332 0 0 0 332 0 0 0 0 0

2,248 225 587 0 3,060 2,248 225 587 0 3,060 0 0 0 0 0
Highway Improvements and Active 
Travel
-  Managing Short Trips 648 1,415 0 0 2,063 648 1,415 0 0 2,063 0 0 0 0 0
-  Access to Growth 3,275 5,800 3,000 3,000 15,075 3,275 5,800 3,000 3,000 15,075 0 0 0 0 0
-  City Centre Transport & Movement 
Enhancements 1,576 0 0 0 1,576 1,576 0 0 0 1,576 0 0 0 0 0

-  Integrated Transport 2,359 614 614 0 3,587 859 2,014 514 0 3,387 (1,500) 1,400 (100) 0 (200)
7,858 7,829 3,614 3,000 22,301 6,358 9,229 3,514 3,000 22,101 (1,500) 1,400 (100) 0 (200)

Road Safety and Sustainability
-  Local Safety Works 254 400 400 0 1,054 254 400 400 0 1,054 0 0 0 0 0
-  Minor Highway Improvements (TRO’s) 176 170 170 0 516 176 170 170 0 516 0 0 0 0 0
-  Safer Routes to Schools 10 0 0 0 10 10 10 10 0 30 0 10 10 0 20
-  Cycling 90 0 0 0 90 90 90 90 0 270 0 90 90 0 180

530 570 570 0 1,670 530 670 670 0 1,870 0 100 100 0 200
TOTAL Network Development 10,636 8,624 4,771 3,000 27,031 9,136 10,124 4,771 3,000 27,031 (1,500) 1,500 0 0 0

City Environment – Capital 
Maintenance
Maintenance of Structures
-  Highway Structures 400 0 0 0 400 400 400 400 0 1,200 0 400 400 0 800

400 0 0 0 400 400 400 400 0 1,200 0 400 400 0 800
Capital Highways Maintenance
-  Maintenance of classified roads 1,232 4,385 5,029 1,811 12,457 1,232 2,855 3,499 1,811 9,397 0 (1,530) (1,530) 0 (3,060)
-  Maintenance of unclassified roads 1,600 660 660 660 3,580 1,600 1,600 1,600 660 5,460 0 940 940 0 1,880

2,832 5,045 5,689 2,471 16,037 2,832 4,455 5,099 2,471 14,857 0 (590) (590) 0 (1,180)
Other Programmes
Street Lighting 130 0 0 0 130 130 130 130 0 390 0 130 130 0 260
Street lighting LED upgrades 0 1,007 1,659 2,260 4,926 0 1,007 1,659 2,260 4,926 0 0 0 0 0
Disabled access 60 0 0 0 60 60 60 60 0 180 0 60 60 0 120
Non Highway Structures 18 457 0 0 475 18 457 0 0 475 0 0 0 0 0

208 1,464 1,659 2,260 5,591 208 1,654 1,849 2,260 5,971 0 190 190 0 380
TOTAL Capital Maintenance 3,440 6,509 7,348 4,731 22,028 3,440 6,509 7,348 4,731 22,028 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL Transportation capital 
programme 14,076 15,133 12,119 7,731 49,059 12,576 16,633 12,119 7,731 49,059 (1,500) 1,500 0 0 0

Approved budget VariationsProposed budget

Page 84


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting (23 March 2016)
	5 Care Leavers Charter
	6 Scrutiny review of child sexual exploitation
	Appendix 1 -  Scrutiny review report
	Appendix 2 - Executive response

	7 Transportation capital programme, 2016/17 and future years

